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BILL/RESOLUTION NO. HEB 1308
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Hearing Date 02-05-01
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Minutes: Chairman DeKrey opened the hearing on HB 1305, Relating to conduct of poker under
the games of chance laws,

Rep Delmore: District 43, SW Grand Forks, Introduced the bill This gives flexibility, removes
the limitation of two times a year, Explains the guidelines that are in statute, The Administrative
Rules Committee still has oversite,

Rick Stenseth: Representing Charitable Gaming in North Dakota. (sce attached testimony) The
industry is in a down turn and are looking for ways to revitalize the industry, One of the ways is
the game of poker, Asking for flexibility and are willing to work with the gaming commission
with the new games. Gives the Gaming Commission the same power over the game as other
games. The colored page shows what has been happening over the last two years.

Rep Eckre: On page three, what is the reason for the decline.

Rick Stenseth: We don’t know.
Rep Klemin: How would this work in games against the house?
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Rigk Stensethy: He gives examples of how it would work,

Rep Klemin:Games o« ginst the house, asks for some more eluritication,

Rigk Stensethy: Give the claritication with some examples of different games ol poker.,

Rep Klemin: Asks about a specific gume of poker,

Rigk Stenseth: CGives examples, and says that they have just begun to explore what is available,
Rep Klemin: The fiscal note shows an amount that he considered u small return,

Rigk Stenseth: Mr Kellor talked about how he determined that humber, based on a five per cent
gaming tax.

Rep Klemin: Would that be state wide.

Rick Stenseth: The s correet,

Vice Chr Kretschmar: Are you aware of studies that are being taken in other states?

Rick Stenseth: Yes, there are some, | have the numbers,

Rep Kenner: District 31, Introduced the bill as a primary sponsor who introduced the bill on
behalf of the Charitable Gamers in North Dakota,

Rick Stenseth: How the survey results compare to other states, we have a 3.8 weekly gamblers,
that ranks second to last in the states surveyed. There are 14 states ir: the study, South Dakota
being the only state that is lower, The higher ones are New York and Mississippi. Our problems
are less then states that have broader gambling.

Rep Distud: Could you review, how before gambling did the charities survive?

Rick Stenseth:Gave examples such as bake sales, bingo etc.Charitable gaming is not the only

source for charities,
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Rep Wranghany: Eligible uses have been funded by gambling, in present day, the purpose was not

to fund state government and not to establish u gaming industry , iCwas to fund those eligible
uses. Do you know is there is anything that shows good and great things that the money goes (o,
He asks the group to put together such information,

Rigk Stenseth: Thank you for your thoughts, we now have g webb site to give you information,
Chatrman Dekrey: Thank you for appearing,

Rick Stengseth: 1 have some amendments and explains them.

Rep Distud: Do you have the webb site address with you,

Rick Stenseth: Webb site is cgand.com.
Rep Klemin: in regard to the amendment, asks for clarilication,

. Rick Stenseth: Gives the clarification.
Rep Hawken: District 46, Sponsor on the bill. Spoke in support of HB3 1305 and HB 1306,
Although this bill was sponsored by gaming association, it was the actual charities that contacted
me. By making the changes they will be able in increase the amount that will go to the charities,
Todd Kranda: lobbist for Charitable Gaming Association, spoke in support of HI3 1305,
Bill Shalhoob: North Dakota Hospitality Association, spoke in support of HB 1305,
Chuck Keller Chief Auditor of the Gaming Commission, from the Attorney General Office,
Reviewed the fiscal note and stated that it was a very conservative estimate, he explaincd what
other states that were contacted and how they arrived at the figure in the fiscal note. Explained
about the use of poker tables. Handed out three handouts to clarify a point,

Chairman DeKrey: When did the Indian Casinos come into play here.

. Chuck Keller: I believe that the first year was 1991,
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Rep Delmorg: The rellglous uses, bingo in the ¢hurches, who are we looking al,

Chusk Keller: There are several churehes that are licensed, primarily bingo.

Rep Delmore: Can you el me how many sites, and how many churches are involved.

Chuek Keller: [don't have that Information but [ ¢an obtain that tor you,

Rep Klemin: Asks for elariffeation on one of the handouts,

Chuek Keller: The top line reflects the total proceeds of all gumes. Has one more hand out (o
glve an over view by game (ype,

Rep Grande: Question on the income on the fiseal note, do we have any results on the cost to the
stute on increased wellare,

Chugck Keller:! don’t have that information,

Rep Grande: Are those general fund dollars?

Chuck Keller: It is general fund money.

Rep Grande: This {s only the treatment funding for gambling?

Chuck Keller: These amount refiect the gaming disbursements,

Rep Grande: The Charitable Gambling Association puts in money towards compulsive gambling,
Chuck Keller: Some do and this is reflected in this document, Besides this amount the state does
appropriate $150,000.00 to compulsive gambling purposes,

Rep Grande: Your fiscal note has an increase for this bill, We are having to double the need for
treatment,

Chuck Keller: The amount is based on the entire gaming industry.

Rep Delmore: That is not all the additional revenue that we are bringing in, what is the total?

Chuck Keller: The years 2001 - 2003, the bottom line including bingo is 21,210,000.00.
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Rep Klemin: Asks for a clarifieation of the overview hand out,

Chuek Ketler: He explains using the forecasted gaming activity chart,

Rep Klemin:Aska for another clarifieation on another point,

Chuck Keller: 'This over view s just an over view of certain lines.

Rep Klemijn: This Is a line ften here,

Chuek Keller: Yes,

Rep Marggos: Based on the forecast, do you expeet another drop,

Chuck Keller: Yes.

Rep Maragos: To what do you attribute the drop?

Chuck Keller: Indian casino, low Canadian tourism and reduction of the fraternal and vets
organization,

Rep Klemin: Just & follow up, the line item we are missing is the allowable expenses.
Chuck Keller: Yes,

Rep Delmore: Do casinos contribute to the gaming problem?

Chuck Keller:Casinos do contribute to the state mental health department,

Rep Delmore: Could you get the amount contributed?

Chuck Keller:Yes.

Rep Grande: Would you include the gambling association how much they contribute,
Cl gller: That is not channeled through us.

Rich Stenseth: It is not channeled through us,

Rep Delmore: We don’t get state revenue that are paid out from the casinos as we do from

charitable gaming?
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Cluiek Keller: Indian Caslno don't contribute.

Chalpman Rekrey: H that is all the Information that you have for us, thank you for appearing.
Daoes Kedth have some information for s,

Chuck Kefler: Kelth would know how much money the tribes actually disburse,

TAPE ESIDI B

Rose Stoller: lixeeutive Direetor of the Mental Health Associntion, We neither support or are in
opposition o the b, T can answer your question, for the past two yeurs the North Dakota Indian
Caming Association have provided owr association with $85,000.00. This helps with our
telephone help lne,

Rep Delmare: What per centage of profits is put back into this do we?

Rose Stoller: T can't answer that,

Rep Klemin: What other organizations contribute,

Rose Sfoller; Our assoclation dues not,

Chairman DeKrey: If there are no further questions, thank you for appearing,

Joseph Dirk: testifying for the Moose Clubs, spoke in support of HB 1395,

Ardis Olson: Drake ND spoke in support of HB 1305, She is President of the Charitable Gaming
Association of North Dakota,

Chairman DeKrey: Any questions for Ms Olson, thank you for appearing. Remi Brooke:

appearing here on behalf of The Arc (see attached testimony)

Vickie Wagner: Gaming manager of the VFW in Bismarck. Spoke in support of HB 1305,
Vice Chr Kretschmar; Hag the level of gaming increased or decreased.

Vickie Wagner: It has been dropping down,




Page 7

House Judiciary Committee
BHI/Resolation Number (i3 1305
Hourlng Date 02-05-01

Chuleman DeKrey: we will take a ten minute break. Call the committee buck to order with

opposition to 1B 1308,
Leaeey Porter: FFort Abraham Lincoln Foundation, Spoke in o neutral position, The foundution

gets grants to help with the costs, we wouldn't be able to get grants without help (rom the gaming

funds.

Chalrman Dekrey: Anyone wishing to testily in opposition,

Avthue Link: Chatrman of the North Dakota Couneil on Gambling Problems, (see attached
{estimony).

Rep Delmorg: Can you tell me the numbers for the per centage of increase ol compulsive
gamblers?

Governor Link: I am not sure we have those numbers.

Rep Klemin: Does the report have any conclusions us to why we have the decline in state wide
gambling?

Governor Link: | am not sure,

Chairman DeKrey: Any more questions for Governor Link, if not thank you for appearing,
Warren Wenzel: Pastor of the United Methodist Church in Fairmount, North Dakota. (sce
attached (estimony)

Chairman DeKrey: What are the religious uses of gambling money are?

Rev Wenzel: [ am not sure,

Rep Klemin: They say we are losing customers to casinos,do you know any other reasons?

Rev Wenzel: I don’t have any additional sources of information.
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Rep Wianghuon: The study shows fewer people gambling, but the hard ¢ore has gone up, dovs

this study show who 1t 1s?
Rey Wenzel: Tam not sure,
Rep Delmorg: In light of the question that was just nsked, Twonder il it is fuir to call this an
expansion 1o gambling.
Rey Wenzel: When you raise the betting limits ete, it seems to me that is expansion of gambling.
Rep Mahoney: Carrying that o step further, in doubling the chronie gamblers, as 1 recal] we didn't
have an expansion of gambling in North Dakota, at the same time the casinos have been growing,
with that in mind, do you think that if we pass the bill, will it tie in hand it hand with this
incrensing number, Will this bill muke it go up or down?
Rev Wenzel: If you increase gambling, you increase the addiction,

Rep Mahoney: If gambling has gone down, but the pathological numbers have increased,

Rev Wenzel: If the gambling is more accessible we will have more problem.,

Rep Maragos: In your handout that has a bar graph, how do you account for hypocrisy of what
they belleve and what they do?

Rev Wenzel: You pose an interesting question.

Chairman DeKrey: If no further questions. thank you for appearing.

Warren DeKrey: Spoke in opposition of HB 1305,

Rep Maragos: You made an interesting stalement about skimming, do you have any evidence of
that,

Warren DeKrey: when 1 said skimming, I was using it literally, taking care of expenses.
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. Hearing Date 02-08-0]
Rep Maragos: We understund that you are opposed to gaming, would you prefer that the ¢ftizens

of' North Dakota go on the reservation (o game or would you prefer that they stay home in their

focal charlties?

Warren Dekrey: There is no way that we can keep people from gambling,

Rep Moragos: | would like you to answer the question, what is your preference,
Warren ReKrey: I would rather have the local community.

Rep Disryd: The $25.00 Is an issue, would you be ami enable to o lower amount?

Warren DeKrey: ‘That might be an option,
Chaleman DeKrey: I there are no further questions, we will close the hearing on 113 1305,
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: o
Committee Clerk Signature th“ﬂ/)ﬂ/ 178/(12/?/4’

Minutes:Chairman DeKrey called the commitiee to order we will take up HB 1305, This bill

. relates to poker under the games of chance. What are the committee wishes.
DISCUSSION
COMMITTEE ACTION
Vice Chr Kretschmar moved the amendments, scconded by Rep Grande. Further discussion on
the amendments. A voice vole was taken, motion passcs.
Chairman DeKrey: what are the wishes of the committee, Vice Chr Kretschmar 1oved a DO
PASS as amend, seconded by Rep Delmore,
DISCUSSION

The clerk will call the roll on o DO PASS as amend. The motion passes with 11 YES, 4 NO and

0 ABSENT. Carrier Vice Chr Kretschmar,




FISCAL NOTE

Requested by Legislative Council
01/17/2001

Bill/Resolution No.: HB 1305

Amendmaent to:

1A. State fiscal effect: /dentify the state fiscal effect and the fiscal effect on agency appropriations

compared to funding levels and appropriations anticipated under current law.
1999-2001 Biennium 2001-2003 Biennium 2003-2005 Biennlum

General Fund | Other Funds (General Fund | Other Funds [General Fund| Other Funds
Reventes $0 $0 $5.000 $0 $10.000) $
Expenditures $0) $0 $0 $0 so| $0
Appropriations $0) $0) $0 $0 $0) $

1B. County, city, and school district fiscal effect: /ldentify the tiscal effect on the appropriate political

subdivision,
1999-2001 Biennium 2001-2003 Biennium 2003-2005 Blennium

School School T School
Counties Cities Districts Countles Cities Districts Countles Cities Districts

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $

Lo

2. Narrative: /dentify the aspects of the measure which cause fiscal impact and inchide any comments

relevant to your analysis.

The bill would allow a licensed gaming organization to conduct poker tournaments and variations of the
game of poker in which a player would play against the organization, rather than against the other players,
The bill would allow the organization to conduct poker on more than two oceasions per year,

3. State flscal effect detail: For information shown under state fiscal effect in 14, please:
A. Revenues: Explain vhe revenue amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for cach revenue type
and fund affected ant' any amounts included in the executive budget,

The bill would increase General Fund yevenue sinee the estimated increase in adjusted gross proceeds
(gross proceeds less prizes) for the game of poker would be subject to the gaming tax,

Qualification: It two or more bills propose to increase gaming activity, ench of the proposals may impact
and interact with each other and reduce the combined fiscal effect of the bills,

B. Expenditures: Explain the expenditure amounts, Provide detail, when appropriate, for each
agency, line item, and fund affected and the number of FTE positions affected.

Not applicable

C. Appropriations: Explain the appropriation amounts, Provide detall, when appropriate, of the effect
. on the blennial appropriation for vach agency and fund atfected and any amounts included in the




executive budget. Indicate the relationship between the amounts shown for expeniditures and
. appropriations.

Not applicable

Name: Charles Keller/Kathy Roll gency: Office of Attorney General

hone Number: 328-4482 Date Prepared: 02/01/2001




.} Proposed Amendments to House Bill No. 1305

Page 1, line 7, after “organization” insert “in traditional format,”

Renumber accordingly
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18300.0101 Adopted by the Judiciary Commitlee ) H
Title.0200 February 14, 2001 =

E AMENDMENTS TO HB 1305 HOUSE JUDICIARY  02-15-01
Page1 llne? after "organlzalion” Insert "In traditional format," and after "format” Insert an

underscored comma

Renumber accordingly

Page No. 1 18300,0101




Date: L -1Y-0 /
Roll Call Vote #: ./

2001 HOUSE STANDING COMMITTEE ROLL CALL VOTES
BILL/RESOLUTION NO. # i5- 1304

House JUDICIARY Committee

Subcommittee on
or
Conference Committee

Legislative Council Amendment Number

Action Taken @0 P@/M % a/wu,m«(]

Motion Made By Uw)ﬁﬂw /(/ AAMM Seconded By /{.ozaﬁ 8@&%

Representatives

e
a

Representatives
CHR - Duane DeKrey
VICE CHR --Wm E Kretschmar
Rep Curtis E Brekke
Rep Lois Delmore
Rep Rachael Disrud
Rep Bruce Eckre
Rep April Fairfield
Rep Bette Grande
Rep G, Jane Gunter
Rep Joyce Kingsbury
Rep Lawrence R. Klemin
Rep John Mahoney
Rep Andrew G Maragos
Rep Kenton Onstad
Rep Dwight Wrangham

Total (Yes) / / No j/
Absent rﬁf
Floor Assignment m M. L Q,p)\/\ K/\Mmm a/nv

If the vote Is on an amendment, briefly indicate intent;
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REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE (410) Module No: HR-28-3425

February 15, 2001 8:06 a.m. Carrier: Kretschmar
Insert LC: 18300.0101 Title: .0200

REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE
HB 1305: Judiclary Committee (Rep. DeKrey, Chairman) recommends AMENDMENTS AS
FOLLOWS and when so amended, recommends DO PASS (11 YEAS, 4 NAYS,
0 ABSENT AND NOT VOTING). HB 1305 was placed on the Sixth order on the

calendar.

Page 1, line 7, after "organization” Insert "in_{raditional format." and afler "format" insert an
underscored comma

Renumber accordingly

{2) DEBK, (3) COMM Page No. 1 HR.28-3426
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2001 SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE MINUTES
BILL/RESOLUTION NO. 1305
Senate Judiciary Committee
Q Conference Committee

Hearing Date March 19th, 2001

Tape Number Side A Side B Mecter #
| X 30.2-end

2 X 0-5.1

Committee Clerk Signature

Minutes: Senator Traynor, opened the hearing on HI3 1305,

Rep. Delmore, district 43, urges the commiittee to support this bill. Charitable gaming is a
source of revenue for our state.  We hope to level the playing field.

Rep. Hawken, district 46, would like to add that we focus on what this bill is asking. We are not
expanding gaming, This is simply looking at locaf charities, How can we do the best with our
industry.

Todd Kranda, representing Charitable Gaming Organization, likes to identify changes on

1305, This bill deals with poker. We are dealing with an increase of $5 -$25. We are not
competing with the tribal issucs we would like to keep individuals in our community for
charitable purposes. With respect to treatment issues we would get information on that, Tribal

casinos have provided funding what ND gaming {s doing in ND., We don’t believe this is an

expansion of gaming,
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Senator Trenbeath, if we are not competing with the Indians. Why is this not an attempt to
expand gaming?

Todd Kranda, because we're not adding more games, We are asking to increase the wage
antounts,

Senator Trenbeath, a three dollar poker game to unlimited amount, scems like an expansion to
me,

Todd Kranda, we don’t belicve it is.

Senator Watne, on surveillance cameras, costs $12,000 dollars cach. We set the smaller places
didn’t need them, Based on the size of the sites.

Todd Kranda, I don’t recall the restrictions, What we're talking about is where they have
concerns already won’t be a problem. Its a mechanism for study, There are different funds
available for treatment,

Senator Traynor, in addition to Rick Stensa, those same parties will support 1303,

Rick Stenseth, asking for freedom of gaming board to look at other forms of poker. There’s
different kinds of poker and we would like the gaming to have flexibility to decide with the
Attorney General,

Bill Shalhoub, hospitality commission, like to point out 2 changes, Play a little poker at
reservation. Only game where it is not against the house.

Governor Link, (testimony attached), opposed to the bill,

Rev. Warren Wenzel, we don’t need to legislate morality, We are facilitating it if we put this
bill into law, We are indeed expanding gambling,

Warren Dekrey, opposed to gambling because it is an expansion of gambling. It creates no new

wealth, [ts a drag on our economy. Gambling is done locally,
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Richard Unkenhoof, rep. Sclf, | think that there is a something for nothing attitude.

Senator Traynor, closed the hearing on HB 1305,

SENATOR WA'TNE MOTIONED TO DO PASS, SECONDED BY SENATOR LYSON,
VOTE INDICATED 3 YEAS, 3 NAYS AND | ABSENT AND NOT VOTING. SENATOR
NELSON MOTIONED TO DO NO'T PASS, SECONDED BY SENATOR TRENBEATII.

VOTE INDICATED 4 YEAS, 3 NAYS AND 0 ABSENT AND NO'T VOTING. SENATOR

DEVER VOLUNTEERED TO CARRY THE BILL.




Date: > /1 u/d
Roll Call Vote #: /

2001 SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ROLL CALL VOTES
BILL/RESOLUTION NO. /305

Senate _Judiciary

Subcommittee on

or
Conference Committee

Législative Council Amendment Number

Action Taken D leass

Motion Made By Lot ’geconded Z
atn e y ~ S oA

Senators No Senators

Traynor, J. Chairman Bercier, D.

Watne, D. Vice Chairman Nelson, C.

Dever, D.

Lyson, S.

Trenbeath, T,

Total  (Yes)

Absent

Floor Assignment

If the vote is on an amendment, briefly indicate intent:




y Date: }/2"/'/
Roll Call Vote #: 2

2001 SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ROLL CALL VOTES
BILL/RESOLUTION NO. /30 3

Senate _Judiciary

Subcommittee on
or
Conference Committee

Législative Council Amendment Number

Action Taken Du Nt Puss

Motion Made By Seconded —
Ne Is om By )/aieq‘/l\

Senators No Senators
Traynor, J. Chairman < | Bercier, D,
Watne, D. Vice Chairman > | Nelson, C.
Dever, D.
Lyson, S, , \l
Trenbeath, T,

Total  (Yes)

Absent

Floor Assignment

If the vote is on an amendment, briefly indicate intent:




Date: 3 /2 v/'l
Roll Call Vote #: 3

>

Senate _Judiciary ' Commiittee

2001 SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ROLL CALL VOTES
BILL/RESOLUTION NO. /305

Subcommittee on

or
Conference Committee

Législative Council Amendment Number

Action Taken Do No#t 2& $5
Motion Made By Seconded
/U R )50.« By De,uef
]
Senators Yes | No Senators Yes | No
Traynor, J. Chairman > | Bercier, D. <
Watne, D, Vice Chairman 3¢ | Nelson, C. B X
Dever, D, ot
Lyson, S. A X
Trenbeath, T. S
Total (Yes) L{ No 3
Absent O
Floor Assignment wel™

If the vote is on an amendment, briefly indicate intent:




REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE (410) Modufe No: SR-50-6361
March 22, 2001 9:05 a.m. Carrier: Dever
Insert LC:. Title:.

REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE
HB 1305, as engrossed: Judiciary Committee (Sen. Traynor, Chairman) recommends DO
NOT PASS (4 YEAS, 3 NAYS, 0 ABSENT AND NOT VOTING). Engrossed HB 1305
was placed on the Fourteenth order on the calendar.

(2) DESK, (3) COMM Pag~ No. 1 8R-50-8361
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INFORMATION SHEET IN SUPPORT OF
ENGROSSED HB 1305 and HB 1306

Charitable gaming gross proceeds have declined every year since 1994; a total of $45 to
$50 million in the last 6 years.

There was $8 raillion less for charities in 1999 than they received in 1993; and
approximately $1 million less in tax revenues.

Expenses have increased, video surveillance has been required, the minimum wage has
increased $2 per hour, rent and gencral operating expenses have increased.

HB1305 and HB1306 amend the maximum amount that can be wagered on 21 and poker

to $25.

The fast increase in 21 was in 1989 - 12 ycérs ag:).

In comparison the State Indian Gaming Compacts have a maximum wager limit of $100
with two tablcs'at $250 for 21,

Since 1994 gross proceeds from the game of 21 have declined $10 million.

HB1305 and HI31306 are not an expansion of gaming. Both 21 and poker are alrcady

legal games played in our State for wagers much higher than the Bills proposc.
N !

No new games of chance are allowed under B 1305 only various versions of games

already allowed similar to pull tabs and bingo.

HB 1305 and HB1306 will slow the decline in charitable gaming in North Dakota and

slow the decline in revenues given to charities.

HB 1305 passed the House by a vote of 64-34 & HB 1306 passed the House by a vote of 63-35

PLEASE VOTE “YES” IN SUPPORT OF HB 1305 AND HB 1306




INFORMATION SHEET IN SUPPORT OF
ENGROSSED HB 1416

In 2000, 112 charitable organizations (almo:s't 32%) had actual expenscs which exceeded
the allowable expense limit set by law,
HI31416 increases the amount of nllowable expenses that may be deducted from adjusted
gross proceeds from 50% to 51%.
I HB1416 is defeated charitable gaming organizations many of whom arc fraternal and
veteran’s organizations, youth clubs, firemen’s ﬁsséciations, etc., will be forced to shut
down which would devastate these charities.

If the' expense rate is not increased and if charitable garning does not slow the decline in
gross procecds charities will be for;:ed tu shut down.

HB 1416 passed the House by a vote of 77-21

PLEASE YOTE “YES" IN SUPPORT OF ENGROSSED 1B 1416




- The renegorumed Tribal-State Tndiun Gaming Compnct provides for these
gange t\/pa»*; and wa;ze; ng limits for albthe tribes:

C}ame Tvp*’ Y | Waeetne Limit | .
Twmtyfonc - | $146, and two tables with limits of 8250
Foker - £50, with a lmir of thxm. 28 per berting round

S50 singls bet per spin of th* muim:ft. whesl

Roulette |

Paddiewhesls 550 toral bet per spin of the paddiewheel

fndian Drce 100 muldeiied by the number of plavers
. Elestronje gaming devices 525 wtal bet per each play

Craps - | $E0

Sports books Mo limit

Sports pools Mo limis

Calcymas No limi

Pull wabs No Tunit

Punchboards No hmit

Raffles Me limie

Keno bie limdt

Car-muiuel and stmudeass Mo lima
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OFFICE OF ATTORNEY GENERAL

Gaming Division

Eligible Use Contributions for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2000

Charitable Uses:

Abused
Alcohol and Drug Abuse
Animal Protection
Blind
Cancer
Cystic Fibrosis
Disabled
Heart Dissase
Learning Disabllitles
Mental Health
Multiple Sclerosis
Needy
Paralysls
Developmentally Disabled Ciﬂ/ens
Senior Cltizens
Terminally i
Wildlifa
Youth Activities
Adult Activitles
Head Injuries
Home on the Range
March of Dimes
Meals on Wheels
Medical Facllitles (Nonprofit)
Memorial Funds
Nursing Homes (Nonprofit)
Ronald McDonald House
Salvation Army
Special Olymples
United Fund/United Way
YMCA/YWCA
Voluntesr Services
Gambiling Addiction
Other

Total

Rallglous Uses:

Rellglous uses
Total

$

Percent to

Amount Grand Total
54,714 0.31
148,118 0.85
308,446 1.77
14,141 0.08
49,383 0.28
128,657 0.74
1,208,856 6.92
13,922 0.08
3,340 0.02
200,795 1.15
142,728 0.82
112,823 0.65
600 0.00
828,616 8,31
148,124 0.85
30,673 0.18
182,216 1.04
1,888,738 11.39
168,314 0.96
3,420 0.02
33,494 0.19
4,779 0.03
17,381 0.10
110,151 0.63
16,726 0.09
30,228 0.17
7376 0.04
9,600 0.08
371,114 2.12
7225 0.04
8,850 0.04
17,803 0.10
7,800 0.06
109,028 0.62
6688370 T aTey

Percent to

Amount Grand Total

234,185

s~ (3




Educational Uses:

Agriculture g $ 61,583 0.35
Arts 2,085,541 11.99
Educational Public Services 963,025 5.51
Safety 934,007 0.53
Educational Institutions and Activities 716,031 4.10
Preservation of Cultural Heritage , 349,935 2.00
Scholarships 732,682 419
Vocational Workshops ’ 7,658 0.04
Other _ 93,906 0.54
Total $ 5,113,364 29.25
Fraternal Uses:
Camp Grassick . $ 33,199 0.19
Fratermnal Foundations 22,272 0.13
Legion Baseball 400,365 2.29
Disabled or Injured Veteran's Assistance " 43,200 0.26
Other 42,317 0.24
Total ' $ 541,343 390
Patriotic Uses:
Scouting Activities and Boys or Girls State $ 96,874 0.55
Community Bands, Color and Honor Guards, Flags,
and Patriotic Celebrations 236,044 1.38
Other 50,530 0.29
Total $ 382,448 2.18
Usas for Erectlon or Maintenance of Public Buildings or Works:
Uses described abova ‘ 146,047 0.83
Total $ 145047 0.88
Percent to
Uses Lessening the Burden of Government: Amount Grand Total
Community Emergency Services such as

Ambulance and Fire Departments $ 485,677 2.78

~ Disbursements Directly to a City, County,

State, or U.8. Government 360,678 2.01
improvement of Public Areas 187,712 1.07
Parks and Recreation 1,604,100 9.18
Law Enforcament 18,432 0.11
Other 14,116 0.08

Total $ 2,860,720 T2

Uses Banefiting a Definite Number of Persons Who are the Victims of Loss of Home or
Household Possessions Through Explosion, Fire, Flood, or Starm and the losses are

Uncompensated by Insurance:

Uses dascribed above $ 21,436

0.12

M




Uses Bunefiting a Deflnite Number of Persons Suffering from a Seriously Disabling
Disease or Injury Causing Severe Loss of Income or Incurring Extraordinary Medical
Expense Which Is Uncompensated by Insurance:

Uses described above 0§ 729749 418

Community Uses:

Economic Development $ 301,447 1.73
Tourism 639,851 3.66
Other ' 118,889 0.68

Total $ 1,060,187 6.07

Grand Total $ 17,474,848 1G0.00




OFFICE OF ATTORNEY GENERAL
Gaming Division

Forecasted Gaming Activity for the 2001-03 Biennium

(Excludes Pari-mutuel Wagering)
January 18, 2001

Bingo - Regular
Bingo - Disp. Dav.
Raffles

Pull Tabs - Jars

Pull Tabs - Disp. Dav.

Board Games
Punchboards
Sparts Pools
Twenty-one
Calcuttas
Paddlawhesls
Poker

Totals

[ ]

Gross Proceeds ____Prizas Ad} Gross Proceeds

$ 89,286,000 $ 68,762,000 $ 20,624,000
21,000 17,000 4,000
4,630,000 2,130,000 2,600,000
232,614,000 184,724,000 47,890,000
101,689,000 79,732,000 . 21,957,000
1,428,000 1,028,000 400,000
13,000 9,000 4,000
229,000 176,000 54,000
57,845,000 46,671,000 11,274,000
233,000 198,000 35,000
10,714,000 7,714,000 3,000,000
4,000 Q _....4,000

$ 498,706,000 $ 391,060,000 $ 107,646,000

Add: Intorest Earned $ 130,000
Less: ND Excise Tax 14,470,000
' Federal Exclse Tax 269,000
Bingo Sales Tax 5,000,000

Total Adjusted Gross Procaads $ 88,037,000

Gaming Tax

$ 6,250,000

Allowable Expenses 51,624,000
Total Expenses $ 67,774,000

Nat Proceads

Taxes Summary
ND 4.6% Excise Tax

Gaming Tax
Total

QOthar Revenue
Monetary Fines

Intarest and Panalty

£.30.263.000

$ 14,470,000

0,280,000
$ 20,720,000

27,000
16,000

Gaming Stamps and License and Rocord Check Feas 448,000

Total

§ 490,000

Total Taxes and Other Revenue {Excludas Bingo Sales Tax) $ 21,210.00Q




Office of Attorney General
Gaming Division
Januars 19, 2001
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Observations on Charitable Gaming Activity and Related Costs

There has not been any change in the maximum wager allowed at blackjack or to the kind of games
that may be played in the charitable casinos in many years. The last change to the wager limits went
into effect July 1, 1989. Since that time there have been many additional cost burdens placed on
charitable gaming proceeds. The largest of these has been increased taxation. In the year ended
June 6, 1989, the year before this chart begins; gaming tax collections were $1,977,000.

Net Proceeds v. Taxes 1990-1999

since adoption of excise tax

$25,000,000 "

$20,000,000 4

b )

$15,000,000 g
$10,000,000 §
$5,000,000 §

i .
so SRy ERasd o PN s e MR

BN NetProceeds M Tax Collecions

As you can see, the taxes collected from charitable gaming have gone from about $2 million up to
about $14 million per year. Net Proceeds are the monies that go the organizations whose programs and
services qualify as eligible uses, Today, that amount is almost equal to the revenue the state realizes
from the conduct of charitable gaming. At the end of the last fiscal year, Net proceeds were $15.5
million while tax collections were $13.1 million, only an 8.4% difference. The same has been true for
the last few years. We have become virtual partners in the charitable gaming industry,

Net Proceeds v Taxes 7/95-6/99

$66,010,000 (46.9%)

Tax Collections
$136,062,000 (54.1%)
Net Proceeds




Observations on Charitable Gaming Activity and Related Costs

As the charts on the preceding page show, taxes definitely have risen. In July 1981 the Gaming Tax
was established to provide funds for the auditing, policing, and controlting of charitable gaming,
That tax was 5% of all proceeds afier prizes had been paid to the player.

That tax generated just under $! million dollars in the first yeat.

In July 1989 the Excise Tax on pull-tabs was enacted. This is basically a sales tax applied to all gross

sales, hefore prizes are paid to the players. It began as 1.96% on the gross, which transiated to 5.9% of

the proceeds afler prizes. The proceeds after prizes were also subject to the 5% Gaming Tax already in

place, bringing total tax on pull-tabs to almost 11% of the proceeds afier prizes. The Gaming Tax was
also collected on “21” and other games. This year Sales Tax on Bingo began to be reported.

July of 1993 brought an increase in the Excise Tax. The new rate was 4.5% of the gross, before prizes.
This doubling of the tax rate meant that 18,4% of Pull-tab procceds went into the general fund.
At the end of fiscal 1994, $14.8 million dollars was collected in taxes from charitable gaming,
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MINIMUM WAGE INCREASES

The second biggest cost to our industry is wages. The gaming business is very labor intensive. Dealers,
Jar Operators, Pit Bosses, Count Team Members, Auditors, and Accountants are those who we employ.
The minimum wage in 1989, after the last wager increase and before the Excise Tax, was $3.15 per hour.
In April of 1990 it went up to $3.80 per hour. In April of 1991 it went up again to $4.15 per hour.
The wage was revisited again in 1996 and increased to $4.75 per hour.

The latest increase came on September 1, 1997 with the wage going to $5.15 per hour,

The exact cost impact of this is not readily available, but it is hard to imagine that any business or
organization could absorb such an increase without somehow raising revenues. It is also quite likely that
we will see another $1 increase be approved very soon and while it may be a needed change, no gaming

organization is looking forward to any such change,

VIDEO SURVIELLENCE

In 1994 the legislature enacted legislation that required organizations conducting $5 blackjack to put in
video surveillance systems that would record all activity on the tables. This was intended to stop and
deter any cheating on the “21” tables. This capitol investment was not small. The cost for installing

video surveillance a “21” table ran from $3,000 to $4,000 per blackjack table. We were told to that our

revenue would increase as cheating decreased, therefore recouping our investment, This did not happen

and today we have state of the art systems in place that make our table games very secure, but have not
done anything to enhance our revenues. These systems are designed, and of such quality, that they can be
applied to any new applications be they new games or increased wagers, The security is there to be used.

RENT TO LESSORS

Most organizations pay a monthly rent amount to the business that owns the establishment where gaming
is conducted. The rental amounts have been established by statute and have been fairly consistent for the
last ten years, A lessor may receive up to $200 per month for each “21" or Paddlewheel table and $175
per month for the jar bar. There is additional rent available to those sites where only dispensing devices
are in play. While the lessor is certainly entitled to rental payments for the value of the space they give to
the gaming operator, rent is still a regular expense, in some cases a substantial expense.




IN SUPPORT OF HB1305 & HB1306

1) Comparing 1994 to the years since, there has been a decline in charitable gaming gross
proceeds each year. The decline has been steadily increasing. 1995 was down 14.5 million,
1996 down 7.7 million, 1997 down 23 million, 1998 down the same 28 million, and 1999

down 43 million from the gross in 1994,

2) There has been a 35% drop in the net charitable gaming proceeds from 1993 to 1999. This
amounts to almost 8 million dollars less for charities in 1999, This is also a disturbing trend.

3) The game of “21” has had a decline of 10 million dollars of gross proceeds since 1994,
This is a 23% decrease. The same 23% decrease is seen in the adjusted gross.

4) This decline, especially in the game of “21” has resulted in a corresponding loss of jobs
throughout the industry.

5) Gaming Tax collections have also been negatively affected. This amounts to approximately
I million dollars per year, a 23.9% decrease.

6) This IS NOT an expansion of gaming. The games and limits allowed under HB1305 and
HB 1306 are already legal games, in play in our state, for wagers much higher than the bills
propose. This legislation will stow the downward trend in charitable gaming, the only type

of gaming the legislature has supported.

7) No new games of chance are allowed under these bills, Only various versions of games
already allowed under charitable gaming statute would be considered. Pull-tabs and Bingo
are conducted this way today, with many different types of games being played.

8) Passage of these bills provides only the possibility of game variations currently allowed.
Any such game proposed would need approval of the Gaming Commission, after public
hearing, with input from the Gaming Advisory Board and the Attorney General’s Office, and
with oversight by the Legislative Administrative Rules Committee.

9) Neither of these bills authorizes or allows electronic or video games or a lottery.




EXCERPTS FROM GAMBLING AND PROBLEM GAMBLING IN NORTH DAKOTA:
A REPLICATION STUDY, 1992 TO 2000

. These are results takon directly from the study conducted by Gemini Research, [4d, and presented
to the Governor on Junuary 15, 2000, 'The sample for the 1992 study was 1,517 people vs. 5,002
for the 2000 study. This study was done to examine changes in NI Gaming since the 1992 study.

It {s Important to note that all of tho Natlve American Casinos in ND became operational

‘The porcentage of North Dakotans who 1992 result - 12,.3%
gamble once per weok or more often; 2000 result - 4.3%

Defining the Patterns of Participation
Non-Gamblers who have never participated in any type of gambling (19% of sample)

Infrequent Gamblers who participated in one or more type of gambling,
but not in the past year (11% of sumple)

Past Year Gamblers who participated in one or more types of gumbling
in the past year but not on a weekly basis (65% of sumple)

Weekly Gamblers who participate in one or more types of gambling on
a weekly basis (4% of sample)

Woeekly gamblers in ND are significantly more likely to be male, age 30-54, Native American,
divorced or separated and working full-time, Non-gamblers in NI are more likely to be over 65,
widowed, retired, and have annual household incomes of under $25,000.

. Problem gamblers are significantly more likely thi.n non-problem gamblers to smoke daily,
to drink alcohol once a week or more often, and to use marijuana or cocaine on a monthly basis,
Thoy also are more likely to report their problems and to have sought help for abuse problems,

The combined prevalence of problem and pathological gambling did not change significantly
in ND between 1992 and 2000, The Lifetime Combined percentage of those in the sample that
gambled showed a 1992 number of 3.5% and a 2000 number of 3.8%. The Current Combined
percentages showed a 1992 result of 2.0% and a 2000 result of 2.1% of thosc who gambled.

Definitiony:
Problem gambling is a broad term that refers to all of the patterns of gambling behavior thai

compromise, disrupt or damage personal, family or vocational pursuits,
Lifetime Problem gamblers were 2.5% of the sample in 1992 and 2.0% in 2000
Current Problem gamblers were 1.3% of the sample in 1992 and 0,7% in 2000

Pathological gambling lies at one end of a continuum of problematic gambling involvement,
These gamblers are problem gamblers who are more likely to require professional treatment,
Pathological gambling is a treatable disorder characterized by loss of control over gambling, chasing
of losses, lies and deception, family and job distuption, financial
bailouts and illegal acts.
Lifetime Probable Pathological gamblers were 1.0% in 1992 and 1.8% in 2000
Current Probable Pathological gamblers were 0.7% in 1992 and 1.4% in 2000

Based on the results of the study, it is estimated that North Dakota should plan to provide problem
gambling treatment services to between 130 and 270 individuals per year.
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OFFICE OF ATTORNEY GENERAL
Gaming Division

fForecasted Gaming Actlvity for the 2001-03 Biennium
{Exoludes Pari-mutuel Wagering)
January 26, 2001

Gross Procoads

§ 89,286,000
21,000
4,630,000
232,814,000
101,689,000
1,428,000
13,000
229,000
87,845,000

Bingo - Regular

Bingo - Dlsp. Dev,

Rafflos

Pull Tabs - Jars

Pull Tabs - Disp. Dav,

Board Games

Punchboards

Sports Pools

Twenty-one

Calouttas 233,000

Paddlewheals 10,714,000

Poker 4,000
Totals $ 498,706,000

Intarest Earned
ND Exoise Tax
Faderal Exclse Tax
Bingo Sales Tax

Total Adjusted Gross Proceeds

Gamling Tax
Allowable Expenses
Total Expenses

Net Proceeds

Taxes Summary
ND 4,6% Excise Tax
Gaming Tax

Total

Other Revenue

Monetary Flnes
interest and Penalty

. Prizes

$ 68,762,000
17,000
2,130,000
184,724,000
79,732,000
1,028,000
9,000
176,000
48,671,000
198,000
7,714,000

0

Adj Gross Progeads

$ 20,624,000
4,000
2,600,000
47,880,000
21,867,000
400,000
4,000
54,000
11,274,000
36,000
3,000,000
4,000

$ 391,060,000

Gaming Stamps and License and Record Check Fees

Total

$ 107,646,000

$ 130,000
14,470,000
269,000
6,000,000

$ 88,037,000

$ 6,260,000

~-51,524,000
$ 67,774,000

$ 30,263,000

$ 14,470,000
6,260,000
$ 20,720,000

$ 27,000
16,000

_ 448,000
$ 490,000

Total Taxes & Other Rev. (Excludes Bingo Sales Tax of $6 Million) $.21,210,000

Grogs Profit %

2%2%
19%
64 %
21%
22%
28%
31%
24%
19%
16%
28%
100%
22%




OFFICE OF ATTORNEY GENERAL
¢ Overv r 0f Gaming Activity for 1977-2000 !
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The Arc, Upper Valley

. P.O. Box 12420
(701) 772-6101 Office 2600 DeMars Avo. Fax (701) 772-2106
(877) 260-2022 Toll Froee Grand Forks, ND 68208-2420 Email thearc@arcuv.com

February 30, 2001

House Judiciary Committee
HB 1308, HB1306

Chairman DeKrey, Members of the Committee

My Name is Remi Brooke, and 1 am appearing here today on behalf of The Arc,
Upper Vallcy. We are a private non-profit organization dedicated to improving the
general welfare of people with mental retardation and reinted developmental
disabilities and their families through advocacy, education, and family support
services, We are a chapter member of the Arc of North Dakota and the Arc of the
United States.

I am here to speak on behalf of HB1305, and HRB1306, The Arc Upper Valley
receives 29,9 % of its funding from Charitable Gaming for its programs ands
services. Since 1993 to the present we have seen a 49.7% decrease in its net
proceeds. In addition to this we have seen an increase of 26,6 % in expenses, If these
trends continue we will not be able ‘o sustain the current levels of programs and
services available through our organization.

The Arc strongly encourages your support in passing these two bills,
If you have any questions I will be happy to answer t) em.

Thank you for your time and consideration,

An advocacy organization for children & adults with mental retardation
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North Dakota Council on Gambling Problems

Arthur A, Link

‘ Chatrman

February 5, 2001

Re: H.B. No. 130%

Chairman Representative Duane DeKrey
and members of the House Judiciary Committee,

My name is Arthur Link, Chairman of the North Dakota Council on
Gambling Problems, which opposes expansion of gambling in North

Dakota.

House Bill No. 1305 would permit licensed organizations to conduct
poker without limit of occasions and increase the cuirrent maximum
single bet of one dollar plus three raises to a maximum wager of

twenty-five dollars.

This five-fold increase is designed to entice more participants
betting more money in an attempt to achieve greater profits., It
would no longer be recreational or low stakes.

This would break faith with the people of North Dakota who accepted
gambling on condition that wagers would be limited and designed for
recreation and charity.

On January 25, 2001, Governor John Hoeven and Carol K. Olson,
Executive Director of the North Dakota Department of Human
Services, released the report on Gambling and Problem Gambling in
North Dakota: a Replication Study, 1992 to 2000. The study shows
a decline in gambling statewide but pathological gambling has risen

since 1992.

I quote from the report: "Pathological gambling -- the worst form
of problem gambling -- doubled from 0.7 percent to 1.4 percent of
the population between 1992 and 2000. Patholoyical gambling is
characterized by loss of control over gambling, chasing of losses,
lies# and deception, family and job disruption, financial bailouts

and illegal acts."
We can not ignore this report!

Passage of H.B. 1305 would only add to there problems. Please
stop this proposal to increase gambling and vote NO on H.B. 1305.

Thank you, _
[sthoon 4.5

‘ Arthur A, Link
| Chairman




February 5, 2001 House Bill 1305 & 1306

Chairman DeKroy and Members of the House Judiciary Comumittee:

Gambling is a camel that got jts nose under the tent over 20 years ago in North
Dakotu. And ever since has worked its way into the tent more and more. It started as
help for charities. But more than help for charities it was an efort by some to introduce
gambling for gambling sake. We as a state have become addicted to gambling. | have
provided a chart of the progress of gambling addiction, One of the factors is tolerunce
(Needs o gamble with increasing amounts of monoy in order to achieve the desired
oxcitement),

House Bill No. 1305 and House Bill No. 1306 are evidence of our addiction. It
these betting limits are approved the next step is sure to come in the next session 10 raise
them even more. It's time 1o say NO to increases in bet limits and gambling in gencral,
The recently released study of gambling has shown that problem gambling has doubled in
the last 8 years and among the lower income groups in our state it has grown even more
than double. There are big scandale that we could point to and there are many little ones
going on in homes, in businesses, and schools, yes tean-age gambling is real, because of
gambling, all across our state.

[ helped pull together statements on gambling from many religious groups in our
state. The attached statement from the North Dakota Conference of Churches is the
result of that work. We are a religiously diverse sociei, but not on gambling. We all
agree on the destructive nature of gambling in our society. The increases asked for in
these bills, HB1305 & HB 1306, go against the grain of all the religious groups in the
State of North Dakota, Up to a few years ago the Catholic Church gave its blessing to
some forms of gambling if it was done in moderation but now they have joined in
opposing the expansion of gambling that is going on in our state. We are not taiking
about religious radicals here. These concerns are coming from the main stream. We see
the problems when they happen. Society wants to cover them up. The gamblers are the
best at denial. The cancer is here and it wants to grow. You can stop some of that
growth by rejecting these increases, by saying a loud NO to these bills. Your job is to act
in the common good. These bills may be good for a few but are not in the interest of the
common good. That's is why I see the religious groups united on this issue.

Dr. Valeric Lorenz, Executive Director of Compulsive Gambling Center,
Baltimore, Maryland, one of the leading experts on the effects of gambling said, "If
together we can prevent the expansion of gambling, then we will be able to prevent the
expansion of gambling addiction, and that benefits all of us.”

Your vote is very important in stopping the growth of gambling addiction. I ask
that you vote no on both of thesc bills. Thank you.

Fairmount, North Dakota

Rev. Warren Wenzel,

ETRTr? T W RN




THE CLARION-LEDGER JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI

Gambling called
most compeliing
issue facing U.S.

M Head of federal
commission chastises
public for disinterest

The Assodlstad Press

Some people wrongly
downplay gambling as a
minor {ssue umid other
Amerlcan troubles like
crime and homelessnoss,
the head of a federal coin-
mission on the subject aaid
Friday.

Kay Cole James of Rich-
mond, Va,, who has headed
the Natlonal Gambling
Impact Study Commission
for the past two years, told
an anti-gaming group
meeting {n Jackson {0 gen-
erate public debate on the
impact of casinos and lot-
teries.

“This {s the most com-
fmlling public policy issue
n America today,” she told
the National Coalition
Apainst Legalized Gam-
bling,

James said the commis-
rion focused on social and
economic {mplications of
gambling. She said reli-
glous leaders now have the
responsibllity ot address-
ing the moral implicationa.

The federal commission,
created in 1996, concluded
two years of work in June
after holding 260 hours of
heaiings. James said then

that logal
botting
created
thousands
of jobs but
w o a 8
accompa-
niod by
troubling
conse-
quences,

The commlssion's report
has been submitted to Con-
gress, the White House,
state governors and tribal
leaders.

Among recommenda-
tions were a nationwide
minimum age of 21 to place
bets, 2 ban on collegiate
sports betting, restrictions
on campaign donations by
the gambling Industry, and
the consideration of a
nmioratorfum on further
expansion of gambling,

On Fri af', James
blamed gambling expan-
sion on the lack of citizen
opposition.

“Our very freedom is at
stake,” she said. “Not only
can lives be destroyed. You
can destroy an entire
nation,”

Mississippl has 30 casi-
nos, including the one at
the Choctaw Indian reser-
vation near Philadelphia,

There have been no seri-
ous discussions at the state
Capitol of banning new ones.

SATURDAY, SEPTEMBER 25, 1999




PRODLIM AND
{OLOGICAL

% of Americans
report having gambled a
least once in thelr lives.!
(1D

# [n 1998, people gam-
bling in the U.S. lost
$30 billlon in lega)
gambling! (p. 1.2)

#® Problem and patholog-
cal gambling allects not
only the gambler and his
or her family but also
broader soclety. Such costs
Include unemployment
benefits, wellare beneflts,
physical and mental health
problems, theft, embezzle.
ment, bankruptey, sulcide,
domestic violence, and
child abusc and neglect.!
(p. 16)

 Problem and pathologl-

cal gamblers account for
5.20% of all gambling
enues.’ (pp. 4-15,16)

@& Problem and pathologl-
cal gambling estimates In
17 states where surveys
have been conducted
range from 1.7% all the
way up to 7.3% of U.5.
adults. The majority of
surveys place the average
in the range of 5.5% or 11
million pathological and
problem gambiers

nthe US! (p. 4.5)

W The Natlonal Research
Councl] estimates that as
many 1.1 million adoles-
cents between the ages of
12 and 18 exhibited
pathological gambling
problems in the past year.!
{p.4-12)

® The National Opinlon
Research Center estimates
that the annual average
costs of Job loss, unem-
ployment benellis, wellare
beneflts, poor physical
and mental health, and
gambling treatment is
approximately $1,200 per

pathological gambler and
$713 per problem gam.
bler. They estimate that
Wfettme costs (bankruptey,
arresis, imprisonmer,
fegal fees for divorce, and
so forth) are $10,550 per
pathological gambler and
$3,130 per problem gam-
bler. The annual aggregate
costs caused by these fac-
tors is estimated to be
approvimately $3 billlon,
in addition to $40 billion
in estimated lifetime costs,
These esiimates do not
include the financial costs
of any gambling-related

Incidences of thelt, embez-

zlement, sulcide, domestic
violence, child abuse and
neglect, and the non-legal
costs of dlvorce.? (p. 4-14)

W In a survey of },100
people in rescue misstons
across the U.S., 18% cited
gambling as a cause of
thelr homelessness.!

(p. 7-20)

CRITERIA FOR PATHOLOGICAL GAMBLING

QAMBLING ACTIVITY OF THOSE
MORALLY OPPOSED TO GAMBLING

- Gumbled in pasl year

[:] Gambled, not in past yeor

D Never gambled
54%

15%

Sirongly Opposed

Source; Minnescota Siate |ottery, a3 prinied in
Beyond the Odds, 8 quartesly publication of the
Gambling Problems Resource Center, June 1999

79%

17%

4%
)

Somewhal Opposed

® Pathological gamblers
have higher arrest and
imprisonment rates than
non-pathological gamblers,
A third of problem and

involvement with gambling

Preoccupation Is preoccupled with gambling (e.g., preoccupled with relivin Fast gambling
experiences, handlcam:lng or planning the next venlure, or thinking of ways
to get money with which to gamble

Tolerance Needs to gamble with increasing amounts of money In order to achieve the
desired excitement

Withdrawal Is restless or irritable when attempting to cut down or stop gambling

Escape Gambles as a way of escaping from problems or relleving dysphoric mood
(e.g, feelings of helplessness, guilt, anxiety, or depression)

Chasing After losing money gambling, often returns another day in order to get even
(“chasing one’ losses")

Lying Lies to family members, theraplsts, or others to conceal the extent of

Loss of control

Has made repeated unsuccessful efforts to control, cut back, or stop gambling

Source; National

Gambling lmgwct

Ilegal acts Has committed illegal ucts (e.g., forgery, fraud, tizeft, or embezzlement) in
order to finance gambling

Rizked slgniﬂ«mt Has jeopardized or lost a significant relationship, job, or educational

relationship or career opportunity because of gambling

Bailout Has relied on others to provide money to relieve a desperate financial

situation caused by gambling

Opinion Research Center mt the University of Chicago, Geminl Research, and The Lewin Group.
sand Behavior Study, Report W0 the National Gambling bnpact Study Commisslon. Apell 1, 1999, Table 1, p. 167

pathiological gaunblers have
been arvested, compared 10
10% ol low-risk gamblcrs
and 4% of non-gamblers.
About 23% of pathologicnl
gamblers and 13% of
problem gamblers nave
been Imprisoned? (p.744)

& According to Tom Coales,
Director of Consumer Cre-
dit Counseling Services n
Des Moines, lown, I the
late 1980s, 2-3% of the
people seeking counseling
had gambling; related credit
problems. Today, approxi-
muately 15% of counseling
goes 1o individuals with
gambling attributed to the
core of thelr credit prob-
lems.? (p. 7-15)

8 A Naticnal Opinion
Survey Coinmission re-
potted 19.2% uf patholog-
ical gamblers reported fil-
ing bankruptey? (p. 7-16)

W Las Vegas has the high-
est resident sulcide rate in
the nation.? (p. 7-26)

! Executive Summary, The
National Gambling impact
Study Com:alasion, June 1999

'Fisud Report, The Natlonal

Gembiling tmpaci Shedy
Commitslon, Junz 1999
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North Dakota Council on Gambling Problems

Arthur A, Link

. Chairman

March 19, 2001
RE: HB 1305

Benator Jack Trayner, Chairman
and Members of the Senate Judiciary Committee,

My name is Arthur Link, Chairwan of the North Dakota Council on
Gambling Problems, which opposes expansion of Gambling in North

Dakota,

House Bill #1305 would permit licensed organizations to conduct
Poker without limit of occasions and increase the current maximum
single bet of one dollar plus three raises to a wager of twenty-

five dollars,

This five-fold increase is designed to entice more participants
botting more money in an attempt tc achieve greater profits., It
would no longer be recreational or low stakes.

This would break faith with the people of North Dakota who accepted
‘I' gambling on condition that wagers would be limited and designed for
recreation and charity.

Testimony presented to you on HB 1306 stated that the United Wway
emphasized the need for gambling intervention. The Governor's
report on gambling stated that the worst kind of pathological
gambling had doubled from 0.7 percent to 1.4 percent from 1992 to

2000.

Bismarck Tribune of March 7, 2001 headline states -- "Gambling
addicts appeal to lawmakers for more funding to pay for treatment.,"

How much more evidence do we need to prove that gambling addiction
is a growing problem?

Isn't it time to say '"North Dakota has enough gambling?
Please vote NO on H.B. 1305

iy 2. sl

Arthur A, Link
Chairman




GAMBLING AND PROBLEM GAMBLING IN
NORTH DAKOTA: A REPLICATION STUDY, 1992 TO 2000

Report to the North Dakota Office of the Governor

" Rachel A, Volberg, Ph.D.
Geminl Research, Lid,
P.Q. Box 628
Noithampton, MA 01060
(413) 584-4667
in|

www qeminiresearch.com
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Executive Summary

This report presents the findings of a state-wide survey of gambiing participation and gambling.
related problems in North Dakota, This study Is a replication of a baseline study that was carried
out In North Dakota in 1992, The main purpose of this study was to examine changes in the
prevaience of gambling and problem gambiing in the adult population in North Dakota between
1992 and 2000, An addttional purpose of this study was to identify the types of gambling causing
the greatest difficulties for the citizens of North Dakota, The results of this study will be useful in
documeniing the Impacts of legal gambling on the citizens of North Dakota and in refining the
services avallable to individuals in North Dakota with gambling-related difficuities.

Problem gambiing is a broad term that refers to all of the patierns of gambling behavior that
compromise, disrupt or damage personal, family or vocational pursuils. Pathological gambling
lies at one end of a continuum of problematic gambling involvement. Pathological gambling Is a
ireatable disorder characterized by loss of control over gambling, chasing of losses, lies and
deception, family and Job disruption, financial ballouts and lllegai acts.

Meathods

The present study Is a replication, or repetition, of a survey carried out in North Oakota in 1992,
Like the earlier survey, the 2000 survey was completed In three stages, These included
developing the quastionnaire and sampling frame, collecting the data, and, finally, analyzing the
data and Interpreting the findings. Gemini Research, Lid. was responsible for managing the
project, drafting the questionnaire and designing the sampling frame, analyzing the data and
drafting this repor, Data collection was carrled out by the Social Suience Research Institute at

the University of North Dakota, Grand Forks.

The sampling strategy for this study was designed to compensate for the relatively rare
occurrence of problem gambling In the general population and is known as a “two-phase
probability sample.* The first phase involved identifying approximately 5,000 residential
households with telephones in North Dakota and selecting one sligible aduit in each household o
respond to a brlef screening interview, The second phase Invelved selecting a stralifled random
group of 1,609 respondents from the first phase for a lengthier interview. The completion rate of
71% was excellent and the sample Is representative of the adult population of North Dakota.

Gambling in North Dakota

¢ The types of gambling that North Dakotans are most likely to have ever tried and to have
tried in the past year are charitable games, gaming machines, pulltabs, lotiery games and live
bingo. The types of gambling that North Dakotans are most likely to engage In on a monthly
basis are chartable gamas, pulitabs, live bingo, lottery games and blackjack. Only 4% of the
adult North Dakota population gambles once a week or more often,

o Non-gamblers in North Dakota ars more likely than gamblers to be over the age of 88,
widowed, and retirad. Non.gamblars in North Dakota are also more Ilkely to have annual

household incomes under $258,000,

o Waakly gamblers in North Dakota are more likely than non-gamblers and less frequant
gamblers to ba male, aged 35 to 84, Native Amarican, and to reside in the northwest (NW
region of the State. Waeekly gamblers in North Dakota are also mare (ikely to be divorced o
separated, {0 be sither working fuiltime or to be disabled or unempioyed, and o have ansual
housshold Incomes between $20,000 and $25,000.
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- Problem Gambling in North Dakota

Two different screens wers used to identify problem and pathological gamblers in North
Dakota. The South Oaks Gambiing Screen (SOGS) Is the same screen used in the earller
North Dakota gambling survey in 1992. The NODS Is the problem gambling screen
developed for use in the recent U.S. national gambling survey and is based on the most
recent psychiatric criteria for pathological gambling.

Based on the SOGS, the combined lifetime prevalence of problem and pathologicatl gambling
in North Dakota is 3.8% and the combined past year prevalence is 2.1%.

Past year problem gambling prevalence rates in North Dakota are highest among adults aged
18 to 24 and among Native Americans.

Past year problem gambling prevalence rates in North Dakota are highest among individuals
who gamble weekly or more often and among past year horse race bettors, among past year
players of casino table games such as rouletle or keno, and among past year players of
biackjack and other card games,

Comparing Non-Problem and Problem Gamblers in North Dakota

Comparing problem and non-problem gamblers in North Dakota, we find that problem
gamblers are significantly more likely thian non-problem gamblers to be male, aged 30 to 34,
Natlye American, widowed, divorced or separated, to have less than a high schoot education,
to be disabled or unemployed, and to have annual household Incomes between $20,000 and

$25,000.

Problem gamblers in North Dakota are significantly more likely than non-problem gambilers to
have gambled on puiltabs, blackjack, non-card casino table games, horse races and poker in
the past year. Problem gamblers are significantly more likely than non-problem gambiers to
gamble on blackjack, pulllabs and gaming machines on a monthly basis,

Problem gamblers in North Dakota are significantly more llkely than non-problem gamblers to
have been troubled in the past year by the gambling of someone they live with, to have
angaged in physical arguments about thelr own or another's gambling, (6 have filed for
bankruptey In the past year, and to have baen arrested,

Problem gamblers in North Dakota are significantly more likely than non-problem gamblers to
smoke dally, to drink alcohol once a week or mora often, and to use marjuana or cocaine on
a monthly basis. Problem gamblers in North Dakota are significantly more likely than non-
problem gamblers to report experiencing problems due to their use of alcohol and drugs and
10 have sought help for an emotional or substance abuse problem, Finally, problem gambiers
In North Dakota are significantly more likely than non-problem gambiers to have axperienced
spisodes of mania or deprassion in their lifelimes.

Comparing the Baseline and Replication Surveys In North Dakota

To compare the resulis of the present survey with those from 1992, we combined responses
to questions in 1992 about gambling on instant lottery games with those invoiving other
lotiery games; we combined responses 10 quastions about gambling on video lottery
terminals (VLTs) with those invalving other siot machines; finally, we combinad responses (o
quesiions about gambling on sports with triends and family with those elating to gambiing on

sporis with & bookmaker, .
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The sample In 1892 (N=1,517) was substantially smaller than the sampie in 2000 (N=5,002).
Furthermore, the sample in 2000 contains significantly more young males and Native
Americans—groups that are often difficuit to recruit for surveys of all kinds.

In spfte of the Inclusion of more young males (traditionally the heaviest gamblers in the
general population), gambling participation dropped significantly in North Dakota between
1992 and 2000, The proportion of the aduit population in North Dakota that gambles orice a
week or more often declined from 12% to 4%.

While gambling participation in general has declined, lifetime participation rates have
increased significantly for gaming machines and lottery products. Similary, past year
particlation rates have increased significantly for gaming machines, lottery products and
casino table games such as roulette and keno.

The combined prevalence of problem and pathological gambling dii not change significantly
in North Dakota between 1992 and 2000, However, the prevalence of both lifetime and past
year pathological gambling (the most severe category) has increased significantly. This
suggests that problem gamblers in North Dakota are experiencing more severe problems and

may be in greater need of services.,

Problem gamblers in North Dakota In 2000 are significantly more likely than those in-1992 to
be male, to be Native American and to be widowed. Problem gamblers in North Dakota In
2000 are significantly less likely than those in 1992 to be married.

Directions for the Future

The impacts of problem gambling can be high, families and communtties as weil as for individuals.
Pathological gamblers experience physical and psychological stress and exhibit substantial rates of

depression, alcohol and drug dependance and suicidal ideation. The families of pathological
gamblers experience physical and psychological abuse as well as harassment and threats from bill
collectors and crediors. Other significant Impacts Include costs to employers, creditors, (nsurance
companies, soclal service agencles and the civl and criminal justice systems,

Given the significant increasa in the prevalence of the most severe category of vroblem gambling in
North Dakota, state legislators and other concerned parties may wish to consiier a range of
amalloratlve measures. These include exdending health Insurance coverage {0 cover problem
gambling treatment, fostering responsible gambiing policies and programs by the gambling
industries and developing government.industry initiatives to address this Issue, expanding training
opporiunities for treatment professionals, establishing a gambling counselor certification program,
increasing funding to the North Dakota Depariment of Human Services to support increased public
aducation and prevention services as well as problem gambling treatment, and continued
montoring of gambling and problem gambling prevalence to assess the impacts of legal gambling

on the residents of North Dakota.
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INTRODUCTION

Since the rise of the “third wave’ of legal gambling in the United States in the 1960s (Rose,
1986), the avaflability of gambling has grown tenfold, Today, a person can make a legal wager of
some sort in every state except Utah, Teannessee, and Hawaii; 37 states have lotterles. 28 states
have casinos and 22 states have off-track betting (National Gambling Impact Study Commission,
1898). Just as telling as the expansion of gambling into new jurisdictions Is the growth of the
gambling industries, Between 1975 and 1997, revenues from legal wagering in the United States
grew by nearly 1,8600% from $3 billion to $51 billion while gambling e:penditures more than
doubled as a percentage of personal income, from 0.30 percent in 1974 to 0.74 in 1897
(Christiansen, 1998; Kallick, Suits, Dieiman & Hybels, 1876).

In the 1970s and 1980s, gambling legalization proceeded with little consideration of the potentially
harmmful Impacts that gambling can have on individuals, families and communities. In the 1990s,
however, prevalence surveys have become an essentiat component in the estabiishment and
monitoring of legal gambling in the United States and intemationally (Abbott & Voiberg, 2000,
Bondolfi, Oslek & Farrero, 2000; Gerstein, Voibery, Harwaod, Christiansen et ai, 1999;
Productivity Commission, 1969; Rdnnberg, Volberg, Abbott, Munck et al, 1999; Shaffer, Hall &
Vander Bilt, 19998, Sproston, Erens & Orford, 2000; Volberg, 19986). ‘

The main purpose of this study, funded by the North Dakota Office of the Governor, the North
Dakota Indlan Gaming Association, and the North Dakota Council on Problem Gambling, Is to
examine changes in gambling participation and the prevalence of gambling-related problems in
North Dakota between 1992 and 2000, An additional purpose of this study Is to identify the types of
gambiing causing the greatest difficuities for the clizens of North Dakota, The results of this study
will be useful In documenting the impacts of legal gambling on the ciizens of North Dakota and in
refining the services available to Individuals In North Dakota with gambling-related difficulties.

This report is organized Into several sections for clarty of presentation. The Introduction includes a
definition of the terms used Iin the report 'while the Methods section addresses the details of
conducting the survey. The next four sections present findings from the survey in the following

areas.
¢ gambling in North Dakota in 2000;
o prevalence of problem gambling in North Dakota in 2000;

¢ comparing non-problem and problem gamblers in North Dakota in 2000; and

¢ comparing the baseline and replication surveys in North Dakota.

Background

In 1892, when the first survey of gambling and problem gambling was carried out in North Dakota
(Volberg & Skver, 1893), there were already substantial legal gambling opportunities availabie to
the state's citizens. Although there was no state [ottery operaling in North Dakota, charitable
organizations were parmitted 10 offar live bingo, pulltabs, blackjack and poker games, and off-
{rack wagering on horsa races In bars, restaurants, lounges and fratemal organizations

throughout the state,

In the wake of the Indlan Gaming Regulatory Act of 1688, several Native American irbes in North
Dakota establishad compacts with the stale government 10 operate casines on their reservations.
All of thase casinos became operational ger the completion of the baseline problem gambling
prevalence survey in North Dakota. Th«-a are presently five Nallve American cesnes operaling
in North Dakota, All of these casinos aie authorized o run Craps end rouletie, card games
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Including blackjack and poker, and slot machines, Tribal casiies are also permitted to offer pari
mutuel and simulcast wagering on horse races taking place both 'n and outside of North Dakota.

There have also been substantial increases In legal gambling opportunities throughout the region,
To the north, the Canadlan provinces of Saskaichewan and Mantioba offer North Dakota
residents a range of gambling opportunities, including charitable casinos, large-scale bingo halls,
and a complete range of lottery products, inciuding sports, bingo and keno games. To the south,
. vVideo poker machines owned by the South Dakota Lottery are widely availabie al bars, tavermns

and restaurants as well as at Native American tribal casinos operating acrose the border from
North Dakota. To the west, Montana offers video gaming machines similar to those In South
Dakota as well as parkmutuel and charitable wagering. Finally, to the east, Minnesota is home to
a mature state lotlery as well as numerous Natlve American casinos,

Froblem Gambling Services in North Dakota

. Services for problem gamblers in North Dakota consist, for the most part, of meetings of the seif-
help fellowship, Gamblers Anonymous, and a few professional treatment providers. Gamblers

Anonymous chapters meet regularly in Bismarck, Devil's Lake, Dickinson, Fargo, Grand Forks,

Minot and Williston, Gam-Anon chapters (for family members and friends of problem gamblers)
meet in Bismarck, Dickinson and Fargo. Oulpatient treatment for individuals with gambling .
problems is available from a small number of treatment professionals in Bismarck, Fargo, Grand
Forks and Minot. These programs offer Individual and group counseling sessions, some couple

and family therapy and aftercare.

Approximately 50 memtal health and addictions treatment professionals in North Dakota have
racelved training In the assessment, diagnosis and treatment of problem gambling. However,
because insurance reimbursement for problem gambiling treatment is rare, few of these
IndIviduals offer treatment for problem gambling. The North Cakota Council on Problem
Gambling has been actlve for several years raising public awareness of problem gambling and
working to develop senvices for problem gamblers and thelr familles in the State. Finally, the
helpline operated by the North Oakota Menta! Iealth Assoclation receives funding from the North
Dakota Councll on Problam Gambling and the North Dakota Indian Gaming Association to
provide crisis Intervention for problem gamblers as well as information and referrals,

Deflning Our Terms

Gambling Is a broad concept that includes diverse activities, undertaken In a wide variety of
settings, appealing to different surts of people and percaived in various ways by participants and
obgervere, Fallure to appreciate this diversty can limi sclentific understanding of gambling.
Another reason to note the differences batween various forms of gambling arises from
accumulating evidence that some types of gambling are more strongly assoclated with gembling.
related problems than others (Abbott & Volberg, 1690a),

People take part in gambiing activities because they enjoy them and obtain benefits from thelr
paticipation. i-or most people, gambling is genarally a positive experience; however, for a
minority, gambling Is assoclated with difficulties of varying severity and duration. Some regular
. gamblers develop significant, debilitating problems that aiso typically resuit in harm to people
slose to them and to the wider community (Abbott & Volberg, 1699a).

Balholoaical aambling was first included In the third edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical
Manual (DSM-il) of the American Psychiatric Association (1980). Each revision of this manual
has sean changes in the dlagnostic criteria for pathological gambling. The essentisl features of
pathological gambling are presently defined by the Amarican Psychiatric Association (1994) as:
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o acontinuous or periodic loss of control over gamtiing;

¢ aprogression, in gambling frequency and amounts wagered, in the preoccupation
with gambling and in obtaining monies with which to gambie; and

¢ acontinuation of gambling involvement despite adverse consequences.

A formal diagnosis of pathological gambling is arrived at by an appropriately qualified and
experienced clinician following an exensive clinical interview, To make a dlagnosis of
pathological gambling, the clinician must determine that a patient has met five or more of the ten
diagnostic Indicatois associated with pathologice) gambling. Table 1 presents the diagnostic

criterla for pathologicatl gambling:

Table 1: Diagnostic Criteria for Pathological Gambling
Persisient and recurrent maladaptive gambling behavior as Indicated by five (or more) of the following:

Predccupation Preoccupled with gambling (e.9. preoccupied with reliving past gambling expseriences,
handicapping or planning the next venture, or thinking of ways te get money with which to
| amble}
Toleranse Needs to qambie with increasing amounts of money in order 1o achisve the desired excitement
| Withdrawal Fresitessness or irritabilty when attempting to cut down of stop gambling ,
Escape Gambling as 8 way of escaping from problems of relieving uysphorio mood (e.¢. feelings of
helplessness, quit, anxiety or depression) L
Chasing Losses IAnor Ic)nn.g money qambiing, often retum another day In order to get even ("chasing one's
_| losses ,
Lying Lies t: family membars, therapists or others to conceal the extert of Involvnrment with
ambling .
Loss of Control Made repeated unsuccessfut efforts to centrol, cul back or stop gambling
Ilegal Acta Comnl';iﬂod Hilagal acts, such as forgery, fraud, thef or embezziement, in order to nance
- gambling
Risked Significant | Jeopardized or lost 8 significant relationship, job, educational or career opportunity bacause of
Refstionship. ‘gambling
Bailout Rellance on others to provide money to ralleve a desperate financial situation caused by
- ambling _
The gambilng behavier is not better accounted for by a Manic Episoda,
The term problem gambling Is usad in a variety of ways. In sorne situations, its use Is limited to

those whose gambling-related difficuities are less serious than those of pathological gamblers, In
other situations, it Is used to indicate gll of the patterns of gambling behavior that compromise,
disrupt or damage personal, famiy or vocational pursuits (Cox, Lesleur, Rosenthal & Voibery,
1997, Lesleur, 1988). From this perspective, pathological gambling can be regarded as a sub.
category, or one end of a continuum, of problem gambling, Problem gamblers, as well as
Individuais who score even lower on problem gambling screens (at-risk gamblers) are of concem
because they represent much larger proportions of the population than pathological gamblers.
These groups are aiso of interest because of the possibiiity that thakr gambling-related difficulties

may become more severe over lime,

In considering the public health risks of problem gambiing, i is Important to note that not all of the
features of problem or pathological gambling need be pressnt at one point in time (Abbott &
Volberg, 1099a; (Gerstein at al, 1999). Some of the impacts that at-risk, problam and pathological
gamblers may experience include psychological difficulties, such as anxety, depression, guilt,
exacerbation of alcohol and drug problems and attempts at suicide as well as strass-relsted
physical ilinesses such as hyperiension and heart disease. interpersonal prablems include
arguments with family, friends and co-workers and breakdown of relationships, oflen culminating in
separation or divorce, Job and school problems include poor work performance, abuse of leave
time and loss of job. Financial effecis loom large and include rellance on famly and friends,
substantial credit card debt, unpaid crediors and bankruptcy. Rinally, there may be Jegal problems
as a rasult of criminal bah~  ‘r undertaken to obtain money io gainble or pay gambling debis ,

(Lesieur, 1998),
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Measuring Gambling Problems

State governments began funding services for individuals with gambling problems in the 1980s,
i1 establishing these servicas, policy makers sought answers to questions about the number of
people who might seek help for their gambling prublems and what they looked Iike. In responding
to these questions, researchers adopted methods from the fleld of psychlatric epidemiology to
Investigate the prevalence of gambling problems in the general population,

" In the 1980s, few lools existed to measure gambling problems and only one, the South Oaks
Gambling Screen, (SOGS) had been rigorously developed and tested for performance (Lgsleur &
Blume, 1987), The SOGS was first used [n a prevalence survey In New York State ln 1986
(Volberg & Steadman, 1986). Since then, the SOGS and subsequent modifications' have been
used in problem gambling prevalence surveys in more than 45 jurisdictions in the United States,
Europe, Canada and Asla (Productivity Commission, 1899; Rnnberg et al, 1998, Shaffer, Hall &

Vander Bilt, 1689, Sproston, Erens & Orford, 2000),

. With the publication of revised psychlatiic criteria for pathologlcal gambling in 1894, a number of

new screens for problem gambling began development (Cunningham-Williams, Cottler, Compton
& Spitznagel, 1998; Fisher, 2000; Gerstein et al, 1939; Shaffer, LaBrie, Scanian & Cummings,
1994; Winters, Specker & Stinchfleld, 1997). In part, these tools emearged in response to
percelved shoricomings In the SOGS and SOGS-R. They also reflect a concem to have
screening Instruments based on the most recent dlagnostic criterla, Despite this proliferation, the
psychometric properties of most of these 1oois have yet to be fully examined. For example, only
one has been assessed for differential performance in clinical settings and survey research

(Gersteln et al, 1999).

In problem gambling prevalence surveys, individuals are generally categorized as problem
gamblers or probable patholoaical qamblers on the basis of thelr responses to the questions in one
of the screens developed to identify individuals with gambling-related difficulties. In this report and
elsewhere, use of the tern probable distinguishes the results of prevalence surveys, where
classification Is based on a telephone interview, from a clinical dlagnosis.

Considerations in Deslgning Prevalence Studies

On tha face of it, finding out how many people there are In a community with serlous gambling
problems Is straightforward, You select a random sample of people from the population, assess
them using a valld problem gambling measure and carry out some elemantary statistical analyses
to generale a pravalence sstimate. In reallly, for a varlety of financial and technical reasons,

things are not so simple,

One concearn |s that tha sample sizes employed In nearly all gambiing surveys to date have been

far too small, Large sampie sizes are nesded to detect differences between sub-groups in the
population at greatest risk for gambling problems. With smiall sampls sizes, the conflderce
Intervals associated with prevalence estimates tend to be quite large, In the casa of inany sub«
groups within thase studles, thasa error terms may be so large that littla confidence can be
placed in the findings. Most gambling rasearchers now agree that it is essential to inlorview large
.samples of raspondents to establish rellable prevalence estimates, particularly for sub-groups in
the population, Another approach Is to over-sample such groups to ensura that there are
adequate numbers of respondents with gambling problams for analytis purposes.

"Another concern is thut, with the excaption of the recent national survey in Sweden, all of the

problem gambling prevalence studies conducted to date have employad compiex sample designs
(I.e. random selaction of single respondents within randomly selected hoiisaholds), While this

' The most widely used modification of the SOOS is the 30GS:R, a revised version of the original screen that sssesees
both Ii'etime and currant gambling problems (Abbott & Volbaerg, 1098),
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approach reduces the cost of a study, it also means that the sample varies from what would be

. attained if truly random sampling of the population had occurred. While complex desiyns do not
present problems for estabiishing point estimates such as means, medians or percentages, the
confidence intervals assoclated with these measures are typically greatly under-estimated. This
concemn has led to the growing involvement of statistical experts in problem gambling prevalence
surveys, Statisticians provide essential expertise in the appropriate calculation of standard errors
and confidence intervais, Statisticlans have also provided new toois for identifying risk factors

related to gambling problems in the general population.

Finally, given uncertainty about the characteristics of individuais who choose not to participate in
surveys, it is highly desirable to attain high response rates in gambling surveys. This means
budgeting for and completing substantial calibacks to eligible respondents. This also means
employing Interviewers with demonsirated success at completing lengthy Interviews and
experience In converting refusals. All of these measures mean that problem gambling prevaience
surveys now cost more to carry out than they have in the past and require careful planning.
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METHODS

The majority of surveys of gambling and problein gambiing completed to date have been baseline
surveys, assessing these behaviors in the general population for the first time, Replication surveys
are used to monitor changes over ime by measuring the same behaviors, using the same methods,
at subsequent points in time. Replication surveys are useful in examining changes In participation
in a mix of gambling activities. Replication surveys also permit more precise assessments of the
impact of specific types of gambling on the prevalence of gambling-related difficuities In the general
populallon. Finally, replication surveys provide important information for the refinement of services
for individuals with garribling-related problems.

The preserit survey of gambling and problem gambling In North Dakota is a replication of a survey
carried out in 1992 (Volberg & Silver, 1993). The present survey was completed in three stages.
In the first stage of the projact, Gemini Research consuited with the North Dakota Office of the
Governor, the North Dakota Indlan Gaming Assoclation, and the North Dakota Council on Problem
Gambling as well as the Soclal Science Research Institute (SSRI) at the University of North Dakota,
the organization responsible for data collection, regarding the final design of the questionnaire and
the sample design. In the second stage of the project, staff from SSRI compieted telephone
interviews with a sampie of 5,002 residents of North Dakota aged 18 years and older. All interviews
were completed between August 17 and October 16, 2000. SSRithen provided Gemini Research
with the data for the third stage of the project which Included analysis of the data and preparatidn of

this repont.

Questionnaire

All respondents were administered a brlef screening interview to determine their level of gambling
involverent, Respondents who never gambled ware asked only a few additional questions
before the Interview Is terminated. Approximately one in four respondents who gambled but not
on a regular basls were administered the full interview, as were all respondents who gambled
once a week or more often.? The average administration time for the screener was 5 minutes
and the average administration time for the fult Interview was 16 minutes. Coples of the

questlonnaire are avallable from Gemini Research.

Screenert All respondents were screened to obtain information about their involvement in 14
differant gambling activities as well as demographic information. For each gambling activity,
raspondents were asked whether they had ever participated In this activity and whether they had
done 5o in the past year. For each activity'they had done in the past year, respondents were
asked whether thay paniiclpated daily, 1 to 3 times a week, 1 or 2 times a month, a few days all
year or onty one day in the past year. Respondents who acknowledged no gambiing at all were
asked several questions about why they did not gamble before the interview was terminated.

Full Interviews The full Interview included sections on gambling participation, problem gambling,
alcohol and drug use, exparience of psychiatric disorders (major depression and manic episodes)
and heip-seeking. As noled above, the majority of problem gambling prevalence surveys carried
out in the Unfled States have used the South Oaks Gambling Screen (SOGS) to assess problem
and pathological gambling. This includes the 1992 survey in North Dakota, A revised version of
the SOGS (SOGS-R) which uses an expanded format to assass both lifetime and current (past
year) prevalence of problem gambling has been used in most of the North American surveys
compileted since 1991. Like the original screen, the SOGS-R has been tested for its performance

in the general population (Abbott & Volberg, 1686; Volberg, 1968),

Saveral rasearchers in the fleld of gambling studies recommend using more than one measure of
problem gambling in surveys of the general populatior (Abbott & Volberg, 1688b; Gambino, 1609;

2 An exoeption Is Region 1 (NW) whete faulty skip rules resulled In full Interviews with 90% of the past year gambiets and.
88% of the Infrequent gamblers.
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Shaffer, Hall & Vander Bilt, 1997). Indeed, Shaffer and his colleagues argue that the use of
multiple problem gambling screens should be one measure of the quality of problem gambling
prevalence studies. We noted above that several problem gambling screens based on the most
recent psychiatric criterla for pathological gambling have recently been developed. However,
only the NODS—developed for the recent U.S. national survey—has been tested for its
performance in both clinical and survey populations (Gerstein et a!, 1999).

To provide comparability with the baseline survey in North Dakota In 1992, we Included the
SOGS-R in the 2000 questionnaire. The NODS was also included to provide a measure of
problem gambling based on the most recent psychiatric ¢ritaria as well as to provide
comparability with the U.8, natlonal survey, In administering the questionnaire, the two problem
gambling screens were rotated so as to avold an ordering effect. This is the approach taken in
the recent national survey In Sweden as well as in several recent state-level prevalence surveys
where two different probler gambling screens have been used (Abbott & Volberg, 1999;

Rénnberg et al, 1999).

Survey Design

Since problem and pathological gambling Is a relatively rare ptienomenon, problem gambling .
surveys have typically ylelded too few Individuals to examine in detail the relationships between
problem gambling and other variables, such as gender, age and ethnictty. There are two
approacheg to obtaining larger numbers of problem and pathological gamblers in a sample. The
first approach is to increase the overall sample size dramatically, as was done in the recent
natlonal surveys in New Zealand and Sweden (Abbott & Volberg, 2000; Rénnberg et al, 1999),
The chief drawback to this approach is the equally dramatic increase in the cost of data collection

for these studies.

The second approach Is to focus on recruiting individuals into the sample who are at higher-than-
usual risk for experiencing gambling problems. This ¢an be done by Interviewing individuals at
gaming venues or by screening potential respondents by telephone to identify reqular gamblers,
The first strategy of interviewing garning patrons was used In the recent U.S, national survey
(Gerstein et al, 1999), The second stralegy of screening for regular gambiers was adoptec in the
racent national survey in Australia (Productivity Commission, 1999) and was used for the problem

gambling survey in North Dakola.

Sampling Approach

Information about survey sampies s he’pful In assessing the validity and reliabilty of the results of a
survey. While a fully random design is the most desirable approach to obtaining a representative
sample of the population, this approach often resulls in undar-sampling demographic groups wih
low rates of telephone ownership. These groups most often include young aduits, minorities and
Individuals wilh low education and income. To determine how well the sample represents the total
popuiation, it is helpful to calculate the response rate for the survey as well as to examine how
closely the sample matches the known demeographic characteristics of the population.

The sample used in the North Dakota survey is known as a ‘two-phase probability sample® (Kish,
1085) or ‘double sample” (Cochran, 1663). The first phase invoived the selection of 5,002
residential households with telephones in North Dakota and the selaction of one eligible adult
aged 18 or older from each selecied household to resnond 10 the screener. The second phase
involved a stratified random selection of 1,609 respondents from the first phase for the fulllength
interview: 202 of the 549 respondents who ware classified as Iifetime gamblers, 1,194 of the
3,284 respondents who ware classified as past year gamblers, and all of the 213 respondents
who were classifled as waekly gambiers wers saiscted to receive the full-length interview.,
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All Interviews were conducted at SSRI facilities by trained interviewers with supervision and
random monitoring for technique and adherence to established procedures. Interviews were
conducted afterncons and evenings on weekdays and weekends, Efforts to complete interiews
with selected respondents were extensive. The number of callbacks to complete an interiew with

an eligible respondent ranged from 1 to 12.
Sample Disposition and Response Rate

To obtain a representative sample for the North Dakota survey, random selection of households
and random selection of respondents within households (most recent birthday) were used during
the data coliection process. Geographically, North Dakota was divided Into four quadrants (NW,
SW, NE, and SE), each combining two state planning areas (SPAs), A random sample of 10-digit
telephone numbers was generated by SSRI for each quadrant utilizing Genesys Sampling
Systems Random Digit Dialing software. The list from which the numbers were drawn included
onty actual North Dakota are’ a8 and telephone banks (ti1at is, blocks of 1,000 consecutive
numbers within North Dat ..., .(had been delermined to contain a threshold number of active

residential numbers.

Overall, SSRI called 17,570 numbers to determine whether it was a working residentlal number in
contrast to a non-working nummber, a commerclal/business line, a cell phone, data or faxline, or a*
non-primary household telephone. SSRI classified 7,039 of these numbers as working '
residential numbers elkyible for interview and successfiully interviewed 8,002 of these households.
Throughout the study, completed interviews were monitored {0 determine whether the quadrant
samples matched population estimates in terms of gender (male/fernale) and the age distritution
of North Dakota respondents’ age 18 or cider. Table 2 shows the dispositions for all of the

numbers by quadrant,

Table 2: North Dakota Quadrant RDD Sample Disposiiions

NO Region Compileted Non-\Working | Non-Primary Language Refusals Household
Interviews Numbers Household Barrier Contacted Not

Intarviewed

1 North West 804 23186 217 23 242 147

2 North Easl 1,057 2,258 274 18 306 244

3 South East 1,748 2,145 301 35 380 341

4 Soulh West 1,286 2621 204 27 215 182

Totals 5,002 9,341 1,088 104 1,143 894

Response rates for telephone surveys in general have declined in recent years, These declines are

related to the proliferation of fax machines, answering machines, blocking devices and other

~ telecommunications technology that make # more difficult to identify and recrult eligible individuals.
Thase declines are also related to the amount of political polling and market research that is now

dona by telephone and o the higher ilkelihood that eligible households will rafuse to participate in

any surveys,

"~ One consequence has bean that response rates for telaphone surveys are now calculated in
several different ways. Although ali of these approaches involve dividing the number of
raspondents by the number of contacts balieved 1o be eligible, there are somatimes substantial
differances In response rates that result from differant ways of calculating the denominator, l.e. the
numbar of individuals eligible to respond. The most liberal approach is called the Upper Bound
melhod and takes into ascount only those individuals who refuss to participate or who terminate an
interview, This approach is used by the federal government because of controversies about the
eligiblity of numbers that could not be reached. The Upper Bound mathod of calculating the _
response rate for the North Dakota survey ylelds a response rate of 77%.
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A more conservative approach is the method adopted by the Councl of American Survey Research
Organizations (CASRO), The CASRO method uses the known status of portions of the sample tha!
are contacted to impute characteristics of portions of the sample thal were not reached, The
CASRO method of calcuiating the response rate for the North Dakota survey yields a completion
rate of 71% if over-quota eligibles are assumed to quallfy as ‘good numbers,*

Characteristics of the Achieved Sample

To determine whother the sample wan representative of the population, the demographics of the
samplo were compared with the most racent information from the United States Bureau of the
Census (U.S. Bureau of the Census, 2000). Table 3 shows key demographiu characteristics ¢; ine
achleved sample in North Dakota compared wih estimates from the Bureau of the Census,

Table 3: Comparing the Achleved Sample to the General Population

Achlieved 1099
Sample Population
% %
Gander (N=5002)
Maie 48,6 49,2
Female 514 50.8
[Age (N=4784) -
18- 24 13.3 14,8
25-44 38.3 37.0
45 - 84 29.5 29.0
86 + 18.8 19.5
"Ethnicky 1 (N=4g50) —
White 808.8 §2.7
Native American 3.9 4.8
Hispanis rA 1.8
Other 1.3 1.0

Table 3 demonstrates that the achieved sample was quite representative of the tota! adult
population In North Dakota, as estimated by the Bureau of the Census, The greatest differance
between {he two sampies was In the proportion of Native Amaricans included In the final sample.

Even this difference, however, was less than 1 percent,

Welghting and imputation

Once data collection was completed, the data were weighted to ensure that the rasuits of the

survey could be generallzed to the adult population of North Dakota, Assistance In weighting the
North Dakota sample was provided by Robart Johnson, Ph.D., a senlor statisticlan working at the
National Opinion Research Canter (sae Appandix B for a detallad discussion of the weighting and

Imputation preceduras),

The two-phase sample used in the North Dakota survey required the construction of two sets of
welghts, The flest sat of welghts (WT_SHORT) treated the selection process for Phase One as
an equal-probabiity selestion of aligible adulis in North Dakota, axcept that male and female
adults of different ages in each of the four regions of North Dakota had different probabiities of
compieting the scresner. The sacond set of waights (WT_LONG) adjusted for both the
ditferential probabiities of selaction for the full interview based on gambiing frequanay, for
differential non-response by region, age, and gender at Phases One and Two, and for differential

nonsresponse by gambiing frequency at Phase Two,
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WT_SHORT was used In all analyses of data from the screener. WT_LONG was used In ail
analyses of data from the full interview. Since each weight was scaled to sum to the total
number of respondents, the welghts yield faily accurate standard errors for analytical statistics

and confidence Intervals for estimated paramrters,

Exceptions were the calculation of point estimates for problem gambling prevalence for the North
Dakota population as a whole and the calculation of standard errors for problem gambling
prevalence In specific sub-groups in the population, In determining point estimates of problem
gambling prevalence for the entire sample, prevalence rates wers first calculated for respondents
who completed the fuil interview using WT_LONG. These estimates were then multipiled by an
-adjustment factor that was obtained by dividing the number of respondents who ever gambled by
the lotal number of respondents in the sample, Addilonally, standard errors for probiem
gambling prevalence among sub-groups in the population were adjusted by a factor of 1.17 (the
square root of the coefficlent of variation in WT_LONG) to account for unequal weights due to
unequal probabilities of sample selection and differential non-response.

Statistical Analysis

The data were analyzed using Statistical Package for the Soclal Sclences, Version 10.0 (SPES). -
Numerous analytical variables were constructed from the raw data, Including generatized gambiing
particpatiort levels, scores on the two problem gambling screens, levels of alcoho! and drug use,
experience of manic eplsodes and major depression, and heip-seeking for mental health problems,
aicohol or drug abuse and gambling problems. In analyzing the results of the survey and in
comparing (he present survey with the 1992 survey, chi-square analysis and analyses of varlance

were used to test for statistical significance.
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GAMBLING IN NORTH DAKOTA

This chapter examines gambling participation in the general population in North Dakota, To
assess the full range of gambling activities available to North Dakola residents, the questionnaire
for the survey collected information about 14 different wagering activities. All respondents were
asked if they had ever played or bet money on the following activities:

o charltable (inc. raffles, casino nights, o ¢asino table games (Inc. rouleite, keno)

small stakes games)
o card games other than blackjack or poker

e live bingo
* sports betting

¢ pulitabs
o betling on games of skill (inc. own
performance in games of darts, pool,

o |ottery games
bowling, or goif)

¢ gaming machines (Inc, slot machines,

video poker, VL.TS) e betting on horse, dog or mule races
¢ blackjack o telephone or computer wagering '
e poker o any other type of gambling

Gambling in the General Population

In every recent survey of gambling and problem gambling, the majority of respondents
acknowledge particlpating in one or more gambling activities. Natlonally, the proportion of the
population that has ever gambled ranges from 81% In the Southern states to 89% In the
Northeast (Gerstein et al, 1988), In 2000, 81% of the North Dakota respundents acknowledged
participating in one or more of the 14 activities included In the questionnaire (see Comparing the

1992 and 2000 Surveys on Page 28 for further discussion),

Table 4 shows lifetime, past year, monthly and weekly participation for all of the types of gambling
included in the 2000 survey, Lifetime paricipation among North Dakota respondents Is highest for
small-stakes charitable gambling, such as raffles and sweepstakes, gaming machines, and pulltabs,
Between one-half and iwo-thirds of the respondents acknowledge having participated in these
actiities, Between one-quarter and two-fiRhs of the respondents have ever wagered on lottery
games, live bingo, blackjack and sports events. Between one-tenth and one-quarter of the
respondents have ever wagered on card games other than blackjack or poker, horse or dog races,
games of skill, and poker. Lifetime participation rates are below 10% for all of the other types of

gambling included in the survey,

The rank order of gambling aclivities by past year participation is similar to the rank order for Iifetime
participation with ane exception. While lifetime participation in games of skil is ranked tenth, past
year participation in these activities is ranked ninth. However, the top eight activities remain the
same for both lifetime and past year participation. There are greater differences in rank order when
we consider monthly gambiing participation. Several activities move up in rank when we consider
monthly participation, including pulltabs, lottery games, live bingo, and games of skil. Several other
activities move down in rank when we consider monthly participation. These include charitable

gambling and gaming machines,
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Table 4: Gambling Participation in North Dskots

Lifetime
Participation
{8002}

%

“Pant Yeor

Participation
(8002)
%

Monthly
Participation
(6002)

%

Waekly
Participation
(6002)

%

Cheriable

86.6

ATe

£6.0

364

ro}ca

Pétmln machines
Pulfiabs

48.0

308

Cotfery games

39.9

28.8

Live bingo

39.4

218

"Blsckjack

30.2

178

Sports

28,

17.9

Card games other than blackjack or
oker

201

11.8

wicirjoloin

wlmjairs]oioinio

ari-mutuel (Ino. horse, dog, mule)

18.9

—Games of skil

14.8

oker

11.8

v

=2INM O -

asino table games {inc. roufette,
keno)

8

Internet

g
9
8

O1O) OJOI—~{O] Oi-=Injrr]w;
< L £

- ) X L

oloj olojojo] olojol-]jolofo)

Other gaming activities

WM  JOJ—

"Total

80.8

—
=
Q)

Eae

Patterns of Gambling Participation

To understand patterns of gambling participation, # Is helpful to examine the demographics of
respondents who wager at Increasing levels of frequency. To anaiyze levels of gambling
particlpation, we divided respondents into four groups:

« non-gamblers who have never participated In any type of gambling (19% of the total

sample);

infrequent gamblers who have participated in one or more types of gambling but not
in the past year (11% of the total sample),

» past year gamblers who have participated in one or more types of gambling In the
past year but not on a weekly basis (85% of the total sample); and

weekly gamblers who participate in one or mora types of gambiing on a weekly basis

(4% of the total sample).

Table § on the following page shows that there are numerous siinificant differences in the
demographic characteristics of non-gambiers, infrequent gamblers, past-year gamblers and weekly
gamblers in North Dakota as well as differences in the mean number of gambling activities these

groups have ever tried,
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Table 8: Demogrs

phics of Gamblers in North Dakotas

None
Gamblers
(9€2)
%

Infrequent
Gamblers

(881)
%

“Past Yoo

Gamblers
(32786)
%

Weekly
Qambiers
(214)
%

Male

a8

884

Female

528

18 - 24

11.2

28 ~ 20

B4

- 34

5.4

30.2

30
L

10.1

86 +

37.6

"Ethnicity'™

White

8.

Native American

Hispanio

3.
1,
8.

wo}-jo]

Qther T

Marital Status™*

Married

On
Vigw]| (N>

Widowed

Divorced/Separated

6.'

Never Married

72

—alal.afen

N O D«
ofmjoln

A3 -
1O

"Education’**

Elementary / Some HS

16.1

HS Grad

30.1

Some College

30.4

~jw0lolC] [vlalCioe

@] ©;

BA Degrae

16.1

i

~l=lols
-

Qraduate Study

8.2

m—'u@—l
by g)!op-;
Bl olwiwlo

Employment***

Working Full Time

40.8

Working Part Time

10.1

Keeping House

9.0

Going to School

5.4

[N ] e d 2
[ b BN TS)
[ fal PR 39N PRY

Retired

31,7

Disabled / Unemployed |.

3.0

n
ol

income*™*

(602)

(3812)

Up to $10,000

9.9

8.5

$10,000 - $198,999

14.4

12.0

$20,000 — $24 6859

16.5

12.5

$25,000 — $34,996

16.2

17.1

$365,000 — $49 999

20.8

21.9

$50,000 —- $99,899

16.9

239

$100,000 and higher

6.2

6.1

Region™

North West

23.9

18.1

North East

17.8

21.1

South East

29.9

349

South West

28.4

259

—

Mean # Lifetime Gambling Activities***

0.0

2.6

3.8

Pearson Chi-Square * p<.05 °* p«<.01 *** p<.001
tincludes Black, Asian, and Other as well as Don't Know and Refused.
tincludes Christian Fundamentalists and Mormons/Latter Day Saints.
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Table & shows that, as in other Jurisdictions, infrequent gamblers and non-gambiers in North Dakota
are significantly older, more likely to be widowed, and mare iikely to be ratired or keeping house
than more frequent gamblers, Whie infrequent and non-gamblers are more (ikely than past year or
weekly gambiers to have attended college, these respondents are (ess likely to have household
Incomes over $25,000, Weekly gamblers In North Dakota are significantly more likely than less
frequent gamblers to be male, between the ages of 30 and 84, Native American, divorced or
separated and working full time, Weekly gamblers are less |ikely than other respondents to have
attended college, Finally, the table shows thal the average number of gambling activities ever tried
Increases significantly with the frequency of a respondent's curent gambling.

There Is one Interesting difference In gambling involvement in North Dakota by region. While
respondents from the northwest (NW) region of the State are most likely to gamble weekly, this
region of the state also has the highest rate of non-gamblers In the state. In discussions with
several North Dakota residents, | was suggested that the high rate of weekly gambling In the
norihwest of the State may be due to the large number of oil workers and milkary personnel residing
In this region. Given the distribution of gambling outiets In this reglon of the State, it Is possible that
some of the gambling reported by these respondents is taking place in Montana or Canada where
they may aiso be doing much of their shopping. Evidence from other jurisdictions suggests that the
blmodal distribution of gambling Involvernent in the nonthwest reglon of North Dakota may also be .
related to the sparse population and severe economic condilons In that part of the state, -

Gambling Preferences

For several lypes of gambling, respondents who acknowledged particlpation in the past year and
who completed the full interview were asked about their preferences for particular games.'
These lypes of gambling included live bingo, pulltabs, lottery, gaming machines, blackjack, poker

and other card games, and games of skill.

Gaming Machines: Respondents who acknowledged playing gaming machines once a month or
more In the past year (N=89) were asked where they usually went to play these machines.
Three-fiths of these respondents (81%) Indicated that they usually piayed gaming machines in
North Dakota while 30% Indicated that they usually played gaming machines in Minnesota or
South Dakota, The few remaining respandents indicated that they usually played gaming
machines somewhere else outiide North Dakota, including Mississippl and Nevada,

Respondents who played gaming machines once a month or more often were also asked about

the type of establishment where they usually played gaming machines, Three-quarters (72%) of
these respondents Indicated that they usually played gaming machines at a tribal casino either in
North Dakota or out-of-state, The remaining respondents were equally likely to indicate that they
usually played gaming machines at bars or taverns, at minl-casinos like those in Montana or at a

commercial casino.

Pulltabs: Respondents who acknowledged playing pulitabs bingo once a month or more in the
past year (N=125) were asked where they usually played puiltabs. The majority of these
respondents (86%) indicated that they usually played pulltabs at a bar or taven. The remaining
respondents were equally likely to indicate that they usually played pulltabs at a bingo parlor, a
hotel lounge or some other location, Including fraternal organizations and social clubs,

Lottery Games: Respondents who acknowledged purchasing lottery tickets once a month or
more In the past year (N=118) were asked where lhey usually made such purchases and what
kinds of tickets they usually bought. The majority of these respondents (89%) indicated that they

'WT_LONG was used for analysas of gambling preferences becauss questions about the specifics of gambling
participstion were only asked of respondents who completed the full Interview.
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usually purchased lottery tickets in South Dakota or Minnesota and the remaining respondents
indicated thet they usually purchased lottery tickets in other LJ.S. states.

Three-quariers of these respondents (78%) purchased lickets for muiti-state or out-of-state large
Jackpot, or Lotto-style, games while 18% of these respondents preferred instent or scratch-off
tickets and 8% preferved dally lottery games,

Live Bingot Respondents who acknowledged playing live bingo once a month or more in the
pust year (N»93) were asked whore they usually played live bingo. Just over half of these
raspondents (§5%) indicated that they usually played live bingo in a bar or tavern while 31%
indicated that they usually played in a bingo parlor or commerclal bingo establishment. The
remaining respondents (14%) indicated that they usually played ilve bingo In other
establishments, Including schools and social clubs,

Blackjaclu Respondents who acknowledged playing blackjack once a month or more in the past
year (N=97) were asked where they usually played blackjack, The majority of these respondents
(79%) indicated that they usually played blackjack in a bar or tavemn while 12% Indicated that they
usually played blackjack at a tribal casino. The remaining respondents were most likely to
indicate that they usually played blackjack in a hotel lounge. ,

Pokert Respondents who acknowledged playing poker once a month or more in the past year
(N=15) were asked where they usually played poker, Just over half of this smalt group of regular

poker players (56%) indicated that they usually played poker in private games at someone's
home. Other places where respondents played poker Iincluded at bars or taverns, at fraternal

organizations or at tribal casinos,

Other Card Games: The majority of respondents who acknowledged playing cards games other

than blackjack or poker once a month or more in the past year (N»30) indicated that they usually
played such games In a private home. Smali numbers of respondents indicated that they usually
played card games other than blackjack or poker at a bar or tavern or at social clubs and

community centers,

Games of Skills Respondents who acknowledged playing games of skill once a month or more
in the past year (N=45) were asked where they usually played such games. Just over half of
these respondents (55%) indicated that they usually wagered on games of skili at a bar or tavern
and 38% of these respondents usually wagered on games of skill somewhere eise, including the
golf course, pool halls and bowling alleys. Only three of these respondents usually wagered on

games of skill at a tribal casino,
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PROBLEM GAMBLING IN NORTH DAKOTA

As noted in the section Defining Owr Terms on Page 2, Individuals are classified as problem
gamplers or i prevalence surveys on the basis of thel responses
lo kems inciuded in one or more problem gambiing screens. Research on the performance of the
most widely-used problem gambling screen—ihe South Oaks Gambiing Screen (SOQ8)-=has
shown that the [lfetime screen is very good at detecting pathological gambling among those who
gurrently experience the disorder (see Appendix A for a discussion of the performance of the
S0OG8). However, as expected, the screen identifies at-risk Individuals at the expense of
generaling a substantial number of false positives. The cuent SOGS produces fewer false
. positives than the lifetime measure but more false negatives and thus provides a weaker screen for
identifying pathological gambiers in the clinical sense, However, the graater effclency of the
current 8OGS makes { a more useful tool for detecting rates of change in the prevalence of

problem and pathological gambfing over time,

.Praevalence Rates

Prevalence rates are based on the proportlon of respondents who score on increasing numbers
of tems that make up the lifetime and current (or past year) scale of the South Oaks Cambling
Screen, Table 8 presents Information about the proportion of the total sample (N®5002) who .
score on an Increasing number of items on the ifetime and current SOGS.* For both the lifetime
and current (past year) SOGS, individuals scoring 10 points or higher have been grouped
together because of the small proportion of respondents In each of these groups. Table 8 also
summarizes the prevalence of lifetime and current problem and probable pathological gambling
based on established criteria for discriminating between respondents without gambling-related
difficulties and those with moderate to severe problems (Abbott & Volberg, 1998; Lesleur &

Blume, 1987).

Table 6: Scores on Lifetime and Past Year SOGS ltems

Number of iterns Lifetime Past Year
Non-Gamblers {lifetime) 19.2 18.2

0 64.4 g7.1

1 16.2 9.2
2 6.4 2.4
Non Problem Gamblers 77.0 787
3 1.7 0.5

4 0.3 0.2
Problem 2.0 0.7

5 0.3 0.2

8 0.3 0.3

7 0.2 0.1

8 0.2 0.1

9 0.2 0.1
10+ 0.7 0.8
Probable Pathological 1.8 1.4
Combined Problem/ProbPath 3.9 2.4

? As noted above in the section on Waeighting snd impulation, prevalence estimates werg first cakulated for respondents
who completed the hull nterview (N=1609) and.then adjusted ia Ihe lotat sample (N=5002) in arder to provide pravalence
rates (or the adull population of North Dakotas, _
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According to the most recent population estimates avallable from the U.S. Bureau of the Census
(2000), the population of North Dakola aged 18 and over in 1969 was 476,633, Based on these
figures, we estimate that between 6,700 (1.4%) and 12,400 (2.8%) North Dakota residents aged 18
and over can be classified as iifetime problem gamblers. In addiion, we estimate that between
8,700 (1.2%) and 11,400 (2.4%) North Dakota residents aged 18 and over can be classified as
Iifetime probable pathological gamblers,

Based on current prevalence rates and confidence intervals as weil as census information, we
estimate that hetween 1,400 (0.3%) and 5,200 (1.1%) North Dakota residents aged 18 and over
can be classified as current problem gamblers, In addition, we estimalte that between 4,300 (0.9%)
and 9,000 (1.9%) North Dako'a residents aged 18 and over can be classified as cument probable

pathological gamblers,
Prevalence Among Demographic Groups

As In other jurisdictions, lifetime and current prevalence rates are significantly ditferent among
sub-groups In the population In North Dakota, Because the confklence Intervals around
prevalence estimates for many of these sub-groups are large, most of the comparisons between
groups must be considered with exireme caution. In presenting these data, we have suppressed
all estimates where the confidence interval for any cell exceeds the prevalence sstimate, -

Table 7 presents information about the size of each group In the screened sample as well as the
confidence interval for both lifetime and current prevalence rates. As in Table 6, the prevalence
estimates in Table 7 were first calculated for the sample of respondents who completed the full
interview and then adjusted to the total sample. A simiar procedure was used {o adjust the
confklence intervals for (hese prevaience estimates. Analyses of prevalence rates among
several demographic groups have been suppressed because confidence intervals exceed
prevalence estimates among these small groups of respondents. All results where the
confidence Interval exceeds 50% of the prevalence estimate have been flagged with an asterisk,

Table 7: Differences In Prevalence by Demographic Group

Group Lifetime Conf. Past Year Conf,

Size Prevalence | Interval | Prevalence | Interval

(Full Sample) {3+) (3+)
Gender | Male 2540 5.2 +1.6 2.9 $1.2
Famale 2483 2.3 1.1 *1.4 +0.8
Age 18 — 24 716 4.8 +2.9 4.4 +2.8
| 25 =34 854 5,5 $2.8 18 1.6
36 - 54 1889 3.8 1.8 2.3 £1.3
§6 + 1544 2.2 . +1.4 *1,0 +0.9
Ethnicity | White 4497 33 £.1.0 1.6 $0.7_ |

Nattve American 200 *17.5 +10,1 *16.1 +9.5

Region North V_Vcst 904 *5,1 £2.6 *2.8 $2.0
North East 1057 ‘41 £2.2 25 1 =217
South East 1746 3,2 £1.8 *1.9 *1.2

South West 1205 *3.4 1.8 1.9 [ 1.2

*‘Confidence Interval equats or excesds 0% of the prevalence estimate.. - -

¢ U.S. Buresu of the Census at the end of August. The 1988 populstion

piing frama for the present survey and lo weight the duta. The 1998 sstimates,
were used to estimate the numbers of problem and pathological

n on the tots! popu'i_a of North Duiote hes besn posled,

? popuistion estimates are updated by th
estimates were usad to establish the sam
which wete posted after data colection was underway,
gambiers in North Dakota. Although Cermus 2000 irformatio
these date are not breken down by age group.

L4
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Tabie 7 shows that there are substantial differences in the prevalence of lifetime and current
problem gambling by gender, age and ethnicity, For exampie, both ilfetime and current
prevalence rates are about two times higher among men in North Dakota than among women.
While the (ifetime prevalence of problem gambling is highest among respondents aged 25 lo 34,
current problem gambling rates are highost among respondents aged 18 to 24. Although the
confidence Intervals around the litetime and current prevalence rates for Native Americans In
North Dakota are refatively large, these rates are nevertheless significantly higher than the
problem gambling prevalence rates among whites in North Dakota.

Prevalence by Type of Gambling

Another approach 1o understanding the relationship between gambling involvement and
gambling-related problems Is to examine the prevalence of gambling problems among Individuals
who participate In specific types of gambling. Table 8 shows the current prevalence of problem
and probable pathological gambling for the lotal sample of respondents who have gambled, for
respondents who have gambled In the past year and for respondents who have participated in
different types of gambling in the past year. Telephone or computer wagering and other gambling

. aclivities were not Included in this table because the number of past year players was too small to -
yleld meaningful results, Analyses of prevalunce rates among past year players of games of skill -
and poker have baen suppressed because the confidence Interval exceads the prevalence
estimate among these small groups of respondents. All results where the confidence interval
exceeds 80% of the prevalence estimate have been flagged with an asterisk,

Table 8: Prevalence by Type oF Gambiin

Group | Past Year Conf,
Past Year Activities Slze Prevgla)nca Interval
¢+
(%
Total Gamblers 1809 2.8 £0.9
Past Year Gamblers 1387 2.8 £1.0
Weekly Gambiers 85 ‘12,9 £8.4
Charitable 977 2.4 1.1
Gaming machines 729 3.0 11.6
Pulitabs 571 *3.8 +1.8
Lottery gamies 651 *3.2 £1.7
p.rlve bingo 378 *3.8 +£2.2
Blackjack 332 5.1 +2.8
Sports 300 *3.8 2.6
Card games other than biauiiiack or poker 181 ‘6.2 $4.1
Casino table games (inc, roulette, keno) 79 *11.7 £8.4 |
Pari-mutuel {Inc. horse, dog, mule) 59 *19.9 $12.1

*Confidence interval aquais or exceeds S0% of the prevalence estimate,

Table 8 shows that the current prevalence of problem gambling among past year participants in
charitable games is nearly identical 1o the prevalence of problem gambling among the entire group
of gamblers. The prevalence of problem gambling Is nearly five imes higher among weekly
qamblers than among less frequent gamblers. The current prevaience of problem gambling among
pest year players of blackjack is two limes higher than among the lolal sampie of gamibiars.
‘Current prevaieice rates among past year players of card es other than blackjack or poker are
more than two times highei than amang the total sampie of gamblers, The current prevalence rale
among past year players of non-card casino table games is four times higher than among all
ghamblers and t}re current prevatence rate among past year horse racs betlors is seven times h'gher
than among other gamblers. Whila the sriah size of some groups of past playars suggesis
eaution In interpreling these numbers, this analysis points to the lmportanc’::: targeting public
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education and prevention efforts in venues where card and casino table games are played and
possibly in off-track batting faciitles

Comparing North Dakota with Other States

The jurisdictions where problem gambling surays have been done in the United States ditfer
substantially in the types of gambling available, in levels of gambiing participation and in the
demographic characteristics of the general populetion, Figure 1 shows prevalence rates of lifetime
problem and probable pathological gambling in ail of the United States jurisdictions where surveys
based on the South Oaks Gambling Screen have been completed since 1992 and where
prevalence rates have been calculaled in a comparable manner. !n states where replication
surveys have been completed, the most recen! prevalence rates are shown,

Flgure 1: Lifetime Prevalence Rates in tha United States (SOGS)
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Figure 1 shows that the combined lifetime prevalence rate of problem and probable pathological
gambling In North Dakota is lower than lifetime rates in most other states. The two states whose
lifetime prevalence rates bracket that of North Dakota, including South Dakota and Georgia, were
both surveyed before 189S, It is worth noting that aithough the combined lifetime prevalence rate
in North Dakota Is lower than the combined rates iit mosi other states, the lifetime prevalence of
probable pathological gambling In North Dakota (the black part of the bar) is equivalent \o several
other states with higher overall prevalence rates, including Colorado, Michigan and Oregon as

well as lowa and Texas.

Figure 2 on the following page shows prevalence rates of current problem and probable
pathological gambling in al of the United States jurisdictions where surveys based on e South

Oaks Gambling Screen have been completed since 1952 and where prevaence rates have been
calculated in a comparable manner. Again, in sisies wheve replicaion surveys Rawe boen
completed, the most recent prevaience rates aie shown. MguTe 2 shows that The camined cument
prevalence rate of problem and probable patoiogical gambing :0 Noab Daiots s 1ower than
cument prevalence rates in most Gther Siatos with the excepviont of South Dakota, Even more
striking Is the cleary much highver current prevalence rai? of probable patnologcar gambiling in

North Dakota (the black part of the bar) than in many other stales with higher prevalence rates.
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Figure 2: Current Prevalence Rates In the United States (SOGS)
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A recent meta-analysis of problem gambling prevalence surveys in North America presented
prevalence rates for several different population groups based on the South Oaks Gambling
Screen (Shaffer, Hall & Vander Biit 1897, 1998), Table 9 compares prevalence rates from the
North Dakota survey with the tiorth American prevalence rates in the meta-analysis,

Table 9: Comparing North Dakota Nationally

Washington North
State Americat
1998 ]
Lifetime Problem 2.0 34
Lifetime Probable Pathological 1.8 1.7
Current Problem , 0.7 22
Current Probable Pathological 1.4 1.1

t From Shaffer, Hall & Vander Biit (1997: 38), Includes North Dakots 1892,

Table 9 shows that the lifetime and current prevalence rates of problem qambling in North Dakota
in 2000 are lower than problem garnbling rates averaged over approximately 30 studies In North

‘America between 1888 and 1996, The lifetime and current prevalence rates of probable

pathological gambling in North Dakota in 2000 are equal to or higher than the lifetime and current

prevalence rates averaged over North America.
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COMPARING NON-PROBLEM AND PROBLEM GAMBLERS

In considering the refinement of poiicies and programs for problem gamblers, & is important to direct
these efforts in an effective and efficlent way. The most effective efforts at prevention, outreach and
treatment are targeted at individuais who are at greatest risk of experiencing gambling-related
difficuities. Since the purnose of this section is to examine individuals at risk, our focus will be on
differances batween Individuals who gamble, with and without problams, rather than on the entire

North Dakota sample.

In addRlon to looking only at respondents who gamble, our analysls in this section is limited to
differences between non-problem gamblers and |/{etime problem and probable pathological
gamblers, Both the lifetime and current South Qaks Gambling Screen measures are impontant
tools but they have rather different uses (see Appendix A for an explanation of some of the
methodological lssues related to the SOGS), For reasons related to different rates of classification
errors by the Iifetime and current SOGS, the Iifetima measure is better than the current measure at

detecting pathological gambling among those who currenty exp yrience the disorder.

Since the iifetime South Oaks Gambling Screen is the more accurate method for identifying at-risk
individuals in the general population, consideration of respondents who score as [ifetime problem
and pathologlcal gamblers is most appropriate when evaluating the characteristics of individuals
most in need of help with thekr gambling-related difficuities. Further, respondents who score as
lifetima problem gamblers and those who score as |fetinte probable pathological gamblers are
ireated as a single group and are referred to as problem gamblers in this section. This approach Is
based on discriminant analysis that has established a strong and significant separation beiween
non-problem gamblers and those who score as problem and probable pathological gamblers

(Abboft & Volberg, 2000; Volberg & Abhott, 1994),

Demographics

Table 10 on lhe following page shows that, as in other jurisdictions, problem gamblers in North
Dakota are demographically distinct from non-problem gamblers in the sample. Problem gamblers
in North Dakota are significantly inore li.aly than non-problem gamblers to be male, to be Native
American, to be widowed, separated or divorced, and to be disabled or unempioyed. Prohlem
gamblers in North Dakota are significantly less likely than non-problem gamblers to have graduated
from high school but are also significantly iess likely to have annuaj household incomes under

$25,000.
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Table 10; Dernographics of Non-Probiem and Probiem Gamblers

. on-Froblem Gemblers | Froblem Gamblers | .8k
R (1834) (M%)
% %,
Gender Mai 80.8 89. 001
fql‘m’th 49.8 ;W;'"
Age oY N £X) 73 U7
- 29 8.1 9.3
- 34 0.4 18.0
38 - 54 33.4 sa.g
88 - 4 12.8 12,
88 + 14, 87
Elhniciy White 80.9 80.0 000
Native American 34 7.3
Hispanio 1.4 Q.0
Qther! 48 2.7
Marital Status | Marsied 62.9 44.3 000
Widowed 82 12.9
Dlvorced/Separated 5.8 22.9
Never Married 21,7 20.0
Cducation Elemeniary / Some HS 5.4 14.3 018
HS Qrad 20.0 22.8
Some Collsge 36.6 40.0
BA Degree 20.3 12,9
Graduste Study 8.7 10.0
Employmaent Working Full Time 60.8 82.2 002
Working Pert Time 8.9 81
Keeping House 5.9 4,1
Going to School 7.4 8.1
Retired 14,6 8.1
Disabled / Unemployed 2.7 9.5
Income Up to $10,000 $.7 11.1 001
$10,000 - $19,999 9.9 11.1
$20,000 ~ $24 999 10.1 27.8
$28,000 - $34,569 16.8 14,8
$36,000 - $49,999 24.2 18,7
$50.000 -~ $59,999 26.8 18.5
$100,000 and higher 8.7 0.0
Reglon North West 16,3 24.0 291
North £ast 22.3 24.0
South Sast 36.1 29.3
South West 28.2 22.7
Rellgion Protestant 44.6 39.2 036
Catholle 32.5 27.0
FunJamentalist** 75 8.8
Other 10.9 23.0
None 45 4.1

*Includes Black, Asian, and Other as well as Dan't Know and Refused,

**Includes Chrisitan Fundamentalists and Mormons/Latter Day Saints,
Pesrson Chi-square * pe.05 ** p<.01 *** p<.001

While information about the demographic characteristics of problem gamblers is usefu! in desgning

prevention and treatment services, i is also helpful to understand differences in the gamXing
behavior of non-problem and problem gambiers. Information about the behawvioral correlates of
problem gambling can help treatment professionals effectively identify at-risk individuals, provide
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apprapriate treatment measures and estabiish accessible programs. This Information Is also usetul
fv 0nlnyinakers and gaming regulators in developing measures to miigate the negativa impacts of

qnmbllng legalization,

Gambling Participation

Behavioral correlates of problem gambiing include regular gambling and involvemsnt with

formy of gambling (Dickerson, 1863a; Ladouceur, Gaboury, Dumont & Rochette, 1988;
Walker, 1992). Qontinuous forms of gambling are characterized by rapkd cycles of play as well as
the opportuntty for players to immediately reinvest their winnings. Most of the legal forms of
gambling In North Dakota are continuous, including puillabs, Iive bingo, gaming machines, card
games including blackjack and poker, other casino table games such as craps and roulette, and
parkmutuel wagering on horse and dog races.

Lifetime: Problem gamblers in North Dakota are significantly more Iikely than non-problem
gamblers {0 have ever tried most of the different {ypes of gambling included in the survey, These
include live bingo, pulltabs, biackiack, poker, olher casino table games such as craps or rouiette,
vard games other than poker or blackjack, sports betling, park-mutuel wagering on horse races, and
betting on the Internet, Non-problem and problem gambiers are equally likely to have ever '
particlpated In small-stakes chariiable gambling and lottery games (all of which are out-of-state).
Non-problem and problem gamblers are just as likely to have ever wagered on gaming machinss

and games of skill.

Past Yeann Table 11 shows diffe;ences In past year involvement In different types of wagering by
non-problem and problem gambiers in North Dakota. Only those types of gambling fur which past
year participation among problem gamblers is 10% (N=7) or higher are shown,

Table 11: Past Year Acthvities of Non-Problem and Problem Gamblers

Non-Probiem Prablem
Past Year Actlvities Gamblers Gamblers | Slg.
(1634) (76)
% %

Charitable 80.6 66.3 NS
Gaming machines 44.7 §87 | 012
Pulltabs 34.8 54.7 .000
Lottery games " 33.8 44,0 .048
Blackjack 19.8 39.8 .000
Live bingo 23.0 320 | .082
Sports 18.4 22.7 NS
Card games other than blackjack or 10.8 20,0 018
poker

Casino table games (inc. roulette, keno) 4.2 20.0 .000
_Park-mutuel (inc. horse, dog, mule) 2.9 17,3 .000
“Poker 4.4 160 | .000
Games of skiil 8.0 10.7 NS
Average # of past year activities 2.7 4.1 .000

Chi-square » Fisher's Exact Test
Mean = ANOVA

Tabie 11 shows that problem gamblers in Norih Dakota ars significantly more Iikely than non-
problem gamblers to have wagered in the past year on gaming machines, pulitabs, blackjack,
poker, card games other than blackjack or poker, casino table games such as craps or roulettz,
and on parkmutuel events. All of these soliviiies.are con' m types of gambiing that are legaily

available in North Dakota.
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Monthly: Table 12 shows differences in monthly involvement in different types of wagering by
non-probiem and problem gamblers in North Dakota. As with past year participation, only those
types of gambling for which past year participation among problem gamblers Is 10% (N=7) or

higher are shown,

Table 12: Monthly Gambling of Non-Problem and Problem Gamblers
Non-Problem Problem
Monthly Actlvities Gamblers Gamblers | Sig.
(15924) (75)

%

Blackjack 5.2 21.3
Pulltabs 7.1 20.0
Gaming machines 4.9 17.3
Charitable 7.8 14.7

Live bingo 5.5 12.0
Sports 2.9 12.0

Avarage # of Monthly Activities 0.4 1.4
Chissquare = Fisher's Exact Test
Mean » ANQVA

Table 12 shows that problem gamblers in North Dakota are significantly more likely than non-
problem gamblers to wager on a monthly or more frequent basis on blackjack, pulltabs, gaming
machines and sports. While the differences between non-problem and problem gamblers In
monthly participation In small-stakes charitable gambling and live bingo achleve statistical
significance, the size of these groups suggests caution in interpreting these results.

Waeeklyr |n contrast to many other jurisdictions and to the baseline survey in North Dakota (see
Comparing the 1992 and 2000 Surveys on Page 28), problem gamblers in North Dakota in 2000
participate In very few types of gambling on a weekly basis. While problem gamblers in North
Dakota are significantly more likely than non-problem gambiers to play pulltabs, biackjack, poker
and bet on sports on a weekly or more frequent basis, the number of individuals involved Is
axiremely small and the analysis subject to large confidence intervals,

Other Significant Differences

In addition to their demographic characteristics and gambling involvement, there are other
significant differences between non-problem and problem gambiers in North Dakota. These Include
differances in respondents’ perceptions of thair gambling careers and [nvolvernent, differences in
their reasons for gambling, and differences In the Impacts of thelr gambling on physical and menta!

health as well as on family, finances and community.

Table 13 shows that, in contrast to many other jurisdictions, there is no significant differance in the
age at which non-problem and problem gamblers started gambling in North Dakota. This table
shows that problem gamblers are significantly more likely than non-problem gamblers in North
Dakota to have felt nervous about their gambling and to belleve that one or both parents has had a
gambling problem. Table 13 also shows that thare are signlficant differences between non-probiern
and problem gamblers in North Dakota in terms of the resources that they devote (0 gambding,
Problem gamblers are significantly more likely than non-problem gamblers to acknowiedgs having
lost substantial amounts of money in a single day and In a single year. it I8 intaresting to note that
18% of the probiem gamblers in North Dakota deny having ever (0st monay over an entre year of

gambling,
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Table 13: Differences in Gambling Careers and Participation

Non-Probiem Probiem
Gamblers Gamblers Sig.
(1534) (75)
% %
Mean Age Started Gambling 25.0 23.3 NS
Ever Felt Nervous About Your Cambling 9.8 48.6 .000
Parent Ever Have Gambling Problem 4,0 18,7 000
Usually Gamble With _
Alone 122 18.7
Spouse/Partner 30.8 9.7 .002
Other Famlly 14.3 18.1
Friends / Co-workers / Other 42.8 55.8
Largest Amount Lost in One Day .
Less than $100 82.3 37,7 .000
$100 - $599 16.7 55.1
$1,000 or more 0.9 7.2
Largest Amount Last in One Year -
Never Jost money 7.1 149
Less than §1,000 89.0 82.7 .000
$1,000 or more 3.9 22,4

Chi-square » Pearson,

Table 14 shows differences in the reasons that non-problem and problerm gamblers in North Dakota
andorse for gambling, Problem gamblers in North Dakota are skynificantly more likely than non-
protlem gambilers to say that excitement and challenge, winning money and enteriainment are very
important reasons for gambling, Problem gamblers are aiso significantly more likely than non-
problem gamblers {0 say that socializing with friends and family and being around other people are
Important or very important reasons for gambiing. Finally problem gamblers are significantly more
likely than nansproblem gambiers to say that distraction from everyday problems (s an impartant or
very important reason to gamble,

Table 14: Ditferences In Reasons for Gambling

Non-Problem “Probiem
Gamblers Gambiers Sig.
(1534) (78)
% %
Sacislizing w/friends or family ’ 447 50.§ 013
0 be sround other people : 308 80.8 .000
Excitement or chailenge b 74 28.3 000
To win money W 19.4 0.0 1000
[For entertainmant of fun " 315 3.3 00
Qistraction from everyday problems ' 8.4 31 000

‘Praportion sndorsing reason as ‘important® or *Very Important.®
"*Proportion endorsing reason as "Very important.’
Chissquare » Fenrson,

Table 18 presents differences between non-problem and problem gambiers on several health.
related dimensions, Table 18 shows that probiem gambiers are significantly more likely than non-
problem gamblers in North Dakota to identify their physical health status a8 peor of tak, cather
than as good or excallent, Problem gambilers are siso significantly more iiely than non-problem
gamblers In North Daketa to acknowisdge thal ihey dre presently very troubied by thel




“emotions, nerves or mental heaith” and {0 acknowledge that they have experienced symptoms of
a manic episode or major depression at some time in their lives.

Table 15: Differences In Physical and Mental Health
Non-Problem Problem
Gamblers Gamblers Sig.
(1534) (75)
% %

_Haalth Status

Physical health status fair of poor 14.1 28.4 .001
Very troubled by emotions, nerves, MM R 8.1 .000
Manic episode (ever) K 14.7 .Q07

1
8
Daprassion (ever) 25.7 45,3 .000

Alcohol / Drug Use
Daily tobacco use 24.3 45.2 .000
Weekly alcohol use 50.7 .000
Monthly marijuana use 2.2 13.7 000
Monthly cocaine use 0.7 6.8 .001
it drug use {(ever) 0.7 6.8 001

Problems due to alcohol in past year 98 40.0 .000
Problems due to drugs in past year 0.4 8.0 000

Help-Sei king

Help sought for MH problem In past year . 227 0014

Heip sought for aicohol or drugs (ever) . 17.6 000

Melp sought for gambiing (ever) , A 18.7 000
Chissquare = Pearson,

Table 15 also shows that problem gamblers are significantly more likely than non-problem
gamblers In North Dakota to use tobacco on a daily basis, to consume alcohol once a week or
more often, to use marljuana and cocaine at least once a month, and 1o have ever used other
fllicit drugs. Problem gamblers are also significantly more likely than non.problem gamblers in
North Dakota to have experienced a variety of problems In the past year related (o thair
consumption of alcohol and drugs. These difficulties include drinking or using drugs more often
or In larger amounts than intended, spending increasing amounts of time obtaining aicohol or
drugs or getting over thelr effects, making ineffective efforts to stop drinking or using, missing
Important personai and soclal obligations and experiencing emotional and health problems due to

alcohol or drug consumption,

Finally, Table 18 shows that problem gamblers are significantly more tikely than non-problem
gamblers in North Dakota to have aver sought help for an alcohol or drug problem as well as for a
gambling problem. - Problem gambiers are aiso significantly more likely than non-problem
gamblers in North Dakota to have sought help from a clinlc or counsaslor for a mental health
problem. Together, thess data suggest that a substantial number of problem gamblers in North
Dakota have experienced mental heaith or substance abuse problems and have accassed the

‘health care system In a variety of ways,

Table 18 on the following page shows differences in the impacts of gambling on family, finances
and the criminal justice system among non-problem and problem gambles in North Dakota.
Problem gamblers are significantly more likely than non-problem gamblers lo have argued with
somaone In tha past year about their own gambling and, intereslingly, to say that they have been
froubled In the past year by the gambling of someone with whom they llve. Whike the smait
number of raspondents who acknowledge such sttuations makes i difficult to test statistically,
problem yambiers are most likely to identify this person as a spouse; non-problem gamblars are
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more likely to identify this person as a parent, child or some other person. Furthermore, of the 12
individuals who acknowledged that one or more of these arguments about gambling became
physical, 1 scored as a problem gambler and 10 scored as probable pathological gambiers.
These data point to the need for research on the relatively unexplored relationship between
problem gambling and domestic violence.*

Table 16: Differences In Family, Financial and Criminal Justice Impacts

Non-Problem Problem
Gamb.ars Gamblers Sig.
(1534) (75)
% %
Family Impacts
| Arqued about own gambling in past year 0.4 16.2 .000
Troubled by gambiing of s'one R lives with 2.9 14,7 000
“Financial Impacts
Ever filed for bankruptey 4,1 18,7 .000
an (61) (14) ;
Bankruptey due to gambling 8.2 71.4 000
Fited for bankruptey in past year 18.0 73.3 .000
| Criminal Justice Impacts -
Ever arrested or detained 7.7 24,0 .000
(115) {18)
| Arrested due to gambiing 18 56.8 000
Ever incarcerated 504 72.2 NS
Incarcaratad due o gambling 3.5 (57) 615(13) 000

Chi-square = Pearson,

Problem gamblers are significantly more likely than non-problem gamiblers In North Dakota to
acknowledge that thay have filed for bankruptcy at some lime in their lives. Again, aithough the
numbers are (00 small to provide statistically robust information, it is worth noting that ail of the 14
bankruptcy flings among problem gamblers were for liquidation or consolidation of personal debt.
In contrast, one-fith of the 81 bankruptcy filings among non-problem gambiers wera for business
debt. R Is aiso Interesting that nearly thrae-quarters of the problem gambiers who ever declared
bankruptcy had done 30 in the past year compared to only one-fifth of the non-problem gambiers.

Finally, Table 18 shows differences between non-problem and problem gamblers in North Dakota
in thelr Impacts on the criminal justice system. Problem gambiers are significantly more likely
than non-problem gamblers in North Dakota to have ever been arrasted or incarcerated, It is
worth noting that 10 of the 18 problem gamblers who acknowledged having been arrested feit
that gambling had been a significant factor In their arrest. Although the numt.ers are again too
small to provide statisticaily robust information, It is Interesting that nearly three.quarters of the
problem gamblers who had ever bean arrested had been Incarcerated, compared (o half of the

non-probiem gamblers,

¢ Although very litie research has baen done on the relationship betwssn problem gambling and domestic violence, 8
recent survey of problem gamblers in seif-halp and professional treatment programs in Montens fourv thal one-third o
‘extrame’ problem gambiers (those with saotes of 7+ on the Fisher Scraen) reported gambing/eisted domeniic vieiande

(Pol2in ot al, 1008).
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COMPARING THE 1992 AND 2000 SURVEYS

A critical purpose of replication studies Is to determine whether gambling participation and probtem
gambling prevalence rates have changed over time in a given jurisdiction. Since 1993, a growing
number of surveys that replicate baseline studies of gambling and problem gambling have been
carried out in the United States. However, it Is difficult to evaluate changes across these
jurisdictions because of variations in the Intervals between studies, the sample sizes, the

~=-demographic characteristics of the population and the availabiltty of legal gambling In these

jurisdictions.
In this section, we examine changes in gambling Involvement and gambling-related problems in

“North Dakota to determine whether enough statistical evidence axists to conclude that gambling

involvement and gambling-related problems have changed significantly in North Dakota between
1992 and 2000, In axamining the evidence, we employ a general procedure called hypothesis

testing.

. The tables in this section present several comparisons of the data from the two gambling surveys in

. North Dakota, These inciude comparisons of the samples, of gambling involvemant, of problem

..gambling prevalence rates and of lifetime problem gamblers. In presenting these data, we have
adopted the convention of presenting the descriptive data for each sample, then the direction of any:
statistically significant change with the alpha set ralatively high at a 90% confidence interval (rather
than the more conventional 5% confidence Iinterval) and then the specific results of a one-tail test

of sinificance,

Comparing the Surveys In North Dakota

The baseline survey in North Dakota was ¢carrled out in November and December, 1992 by
Gemini Research and Precision Marketing, Inc. (Volberg & Sliver, 1883). In this section, we
address several Imporant differences In how the two surveys were carried out, These include
differences In the questionnaire, in the sampling frame and design, and in the completion rate for
the two surveys. To summarize, the 2000 prablem gambling survey in North Dakola included a
larger sample of raspondents, achieved a better response rate, and provided a great deai more
Information on the impacts of problem gambling In North Dakota than the baseline survey in

1992,

Comparing the Questionnaires "

in the Methods section, we noted that the guestionnaire for the 2000 survey consistad of a brief
scraening Interview for gambling Involvement and demographics, administered to §,002 Norh
Dakota adults, and a full interview, including two problem gambling screens as well as sections on
alcohol and drug use, psychiatric disorders, social impacts of gambling, and heip-seeking,
administered to 1,609 Infrequent, past year and weekly gamblers. In contrast, the 1882 survey in
North Dakota included only thres major sactions—- gambling involvemant, the Ilifetime and current
South Oaks Gambling Screen and demographic questions-~administerad to 1,517 rasidents of

North Dakota aged 18 and over.

Particular care was taken in designing the 2000 questionnaire to ensure that respondants’ gambling
participation could be compared with the earlier survey, Howaver, there were several changes
macie to the types of gambling included In the 1992 and 2000 surveys, Table 17 on the following
page shows differences between the 1992 and 2000 surveys In the section of the questionnalre

about gambling involvement.

In 1982, several types of gambling, including loHery games, gaming machines and sports betting,
were each assessed with two sets of queastions, In 2000, these types of gambling wera assessed
with a single set of questions. Addiional detall on gaographic location and type of venue was
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obtained from monthly lottery and gaming machine players. In addition, questions about
speculative stock or commodity investments were dropped in the 2000 survey and questions about
gambling on games of skil for money and telephone or computer wagering on the intermnet were

added.

Table 17: Comparing Types of Gambling in 1992 and 2000

1992

2000

Raffles, casino nights and other smatl slakes games

Raffles, casino nighls and other simall stakes games
sponsored by schools, clubs or other organizations

sponsored by schaols, clubs or other organizations
Live bingo Live bingo
PulRabs Pullabs

Instant [ottery games

Other lotery gumes

Loftery gamea including instant or scratch tickets, daily
numbers games of (arge-Jackpot games

Video lottary such as binge, poker or blackjack

Slot machines and other gaming machines not

Slot machines, poker machines and othet gaming machines
that pay out tickets or cash

including video lottery
Blackiack Blackjack
Poker Poker

Any card of dice games al out.of-slate casinos

Dice or other games played sl a casine, including craps,
roulette or keno

Card games other than poker played with friends of
relatives for money

Caru gamaes othar than bisckjack or poker played with friends
of relstives for money

Outcome of sports of other events with friands or
coworkers

Sports with a bookle

Outcome of sports or other events with fHends of coworkers,
in formal sports pools or with & bookmaker

Any type of horse, dog of mule races

Any type of horse, dog ur mule races

Games of skill for money, such as danis, pool, bewling, of goll

Placed wagers via computer on tha Internet and World Wide
Waeb

Speculative invastmaents including the stackmarket and
gammodities

Any other gaming actlvilies

Any other gaming activities

Two changes wera made to the demographic section of the questionnaire for the 2000 survey. One
change was to use slightly different calegories for income. The other change had to do with the
way in which ethnicty was determined. In the mid-1990s, the fadaral government Instituted
changes in the way in which data on race and ethnicity are collected. Prior 10 this change, a
single question was used lo delermine whether an individual was White, Black, Hispanic,
American indlan or Aslan, Survey researchers now use lwo questions, one to detlsrmine whether
an Individual Is Hispanis or non-Hispanic and a sacond to determine whether the indlvidual Is
White, Black, American Indlan or Aslan. In the 1992 Norh Dakota survey, only one question was
used to assess respondents' ethnicy, In 2000, two questions were used, one {0 assess
‘Mispanicy” and the other to assass “racial background.” This change was made to conform with

the revised federal standards.
Comparing the Samples

In 1692, basad on information from the 1880 census, we estimated that the population aged 18 and
over In North Dakota was 463,048, The rmost racent estimate from the Bureau of \he Census
shows an increase in the adult population of approximately 10,000 individuals in North Dakota. in
comparing the results of the two surveys in North Dakota, & is first heipful to consider differences in
data collaction and response rates, In 1992, data coltection was carried out by Precision
Marketing, Inc., a Fargo-based private survay research organization, Although the response rate

s
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for the 1992 survey was an acceptable 85%, ft is unclear which method was used to calculate this
response rate. In 2000, data collection was carried out by the Social Science Research institute,
a branch of the University of North Dakota based in Grand Forks. Depending on which of the two
standard methods is used, the response rate for the 2000 survey was 71% or 77%.

Table 18 compares the demographic characteristics of the 1992 sample and the weighted 2000
sampies. In 1892, we noted differences greater than 5% between the population and the
achleved sample for gender and age. There was no attempt to weight the 1992 North Dakota
sample; Instead readers were cautioned that the prevalence estimates presented in the report
were likely to be conservative because of the under-representation of young males (Volberg &
Sliver, 1993). In 2000, white there were some differences between the achieved sample and the
popuiation, none of these were larger than 3% and all of these differences were adjusted through
the use of post-stratification weights (see Welghting and Imputation on Page 9 as well as

Appendix B).

Table 18: Comparing Samples In 1992 and 2000

1992 2000 Cirection p-value
(1517) {5002) (ps.10) (1-tail)
% %
Gender Male 409 50.8 + 000 .
Female 59.1 49,2 . 000
Age 18 - 24 8.8 14.3 * .000
25«29 8.3 8.7 325
30 - 34 11.3 8.4 . 000
35 =54 . 37.8 429
55 - 84 121 11.5 289
R 685 + 23.7 19.3 . 000
Ethnicity White 96.6 90.1 . 000
Native Amarican 2.2 4.0 + 001
Hispani¢ 0.1 2.1 + 000
QOther® 11 39 + 000
t

“Inclides Black, Asian 4nd Oiher as wall a8 Don't Know and Refused.

Table 18 shows that, as expecled, the weightad 2000 sample includes significantly more males
and young adulls than the 1992 sample. The weighted 2000 sampie also includes significantly
more Native Americans and persons from non-Caucasian groups. While not presented in the
table, there are several additional differences in the demographic characteristics of the 1992
sampls and weighted 2000 sample. The weightad 2000 sample Iincludas significantly more
raspondents who are divorced, separated or never married compared to the 1982 sample. The
welghted 2000 sample aiso Includes significantly more respondents attending school compared
to the 1092 sample. Thase differences are pradictable given the graater proportion of young
adults in the 2000 sample. There are aiso significantly more respondents with college degreas
and significantly more raspondents with annual household incomes over $38,000 in the weighted
2000 sample compared lo the 1992 sample. These differences are at least partly explained by
improvements in economic conditions nationally between 1682 and 2000.
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Changes in Gambling Participation

There have been substantiaf changes in gambling participation in North Dakota between 1992
and 2000. Table 18 provides an overview of these changes and clearly shows a significant
increase in the proportion of respondents who have not gambled In the past year or do not gambied
on a weekly basis. There Is a concomitant and significant decrease in the proportion of
respondents who acknowledge gambling on one or more activitias once a week or more often,

Table 19: Changes in Gambling Involvement, 1992 and 2000

1992 2000 Direction p-value
(1617) {5002) (p£.10) (1-tail)
% %
Non-Gamblers 18.5 19.2
Infrequant Gamblers 94 11.0 + 033
Past Year Gamblers 59.8 65.5 + .000
Weekly Gamblers 12.3 4,3 - 000

‘Does not include participation in specuiative investmaents for the 1992 umm;

This pattern of substantial declines in gambling participation has been noted in several other
jurisdictions. In New Zealand, for example, the proportion of the population participating weekly in
continuous forms of gambling fell from 18% to 10% between 1861 and 1968 although there was no
change in the proportion of the population that gambled weekly on gon-continuous forms of
gambiing (Abbott & Voiberg, 2000). In Washinglon State, weekly gambling particlpation fell from
27% 10 20% between 1992 and 1998 (Volberg & Moors, 1999a), In Louisiana, weekly gambiing
participation declined from 37% to 20% between 1995 and 1998 (Volberg & Moore, 1998b).

There are several possible explanations for the substantial drop in weekly gambling participation in
North Dakota between 1992 and 2000. Since different individuals were Interviewed in the two
surveys and given the differences in the demographic characteristics of the achieved samples, part
of the difference is likely due to sampling emrors inharent in all survey research. It is also possible
that respondents may have been differentiaily affected in 1892 and 2000 by the social stigma or
desirabilty assoclated with different gambling activities (Sudman, 8radburn & Schwarz 1998),

Another likely axplanation Is tnat the market for legal gambling in North Dakola, as In the United
States more generally and even internationally, has matured and that the public appetite for many
types of commercial gambiing is satisfied (Christiansen, 1969). The baseline survay in North
Dakota was carried out In 1962, some years after live bingo, pulltabs, blackjack and poker and pari-
mutuel wagering were legalized for chartable purposes but prior to the beginning of tnbal casino
operations in North Dakota. i is likely that some of the decline in gambiing involvement in North
Dakota between 1992 and 2000 reflects early exparimentation with new types of gambling followed
by declining interest and participation, Since many North Dakota reskients likely participated in
these activities only a few times, responses in the 2000 survey may aiso refiect a common ty,. ? of
response blas known as ‘recall decay,” or a decline in the ablity to recall an Infrequent event as i
racedes in time (Johnson, Gerstein & Rasinsk|, 1998).

Table 20 on the following page provkies a more detailed picture of how gambiing involvement has
changed ki North Dakota between 1992 and 2000, Table 20 shows changes in iifetime participation
for ail of the types of gambiing included in the two surveys. Table 20 shov:s that lifetime
participation has increased significantly for two activities but has decreased significantly for six
aciivities. Activities that have seen an incraase in lifetime participation include fottery games and
gaming machines, Activities thal have seen a decrease In lifetime participation Include smalt-
stakes charitable gambiling, live bingo, poker, card games other than blackjack or poker, and
betting on sports and parkmutuel events. There is no comparison possible for betting on games
of skill or for telephone and computer wagering since these activities were not included in the

baseline survey in 1892,
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Table 20: Changes in Lifetime Gambling Participation, 1992 and 2000

1892 2000 | Direction | p-value
(1517) | (5002) | (p<.10) | (1-tail)
% %

Chartable 70.9 86.6 . .001
Live bingo 43.0 39.4 - .008
Puiltabs 47.3 46.0 | 158
Lottery games 31.4 36.9 + .000
Gaming machines 42.1 §5.6 + .000
Blackjack 30.0 30.2 431
[Poker 18.9 11.6 . 1000
Casino table games (Inc. roulette, keno) 9.0 9.7 227
Card games other than blackjack or poker 231 20.1 . .006
Sports 29.0 26.0 . 011
Partl-mutuel (in¢. horse, dog, mule) 16.9 16.9 . 004
Other 18 1.8 321

Table 21 shows changes In past year participation for all of the types of gambling included In the
two surveys, There have been significant Increases In past year participation in lottery games,
gaming machines and casino table games, including routette and keno. There have been
declines in past year participation in small-stakes charitable gambling and pulltabs as well as
sports betting although only the first of these meets the 5% hypothaesis test,

Table 21: Changes in Past Year Gambling Participation, 1992 and 2000

1992 2000 | Oswrection { p-value
(1617) | (5002) | (pg. 10} | (1-tail)
% %
Charitabie 52.3 478 . 000
Live bingo 22.7 218 187
Pulltabs 328 30.5 . 066 |
Lottary games 23.7 28.5 + 1000
Gaming machines . 25.8 38.8 + .000
Blackjack 168 | 17.8 123
[Poker 8.1 58 338
Casino table games (inc. touietie, keno) 2.2 58 * .000
Card games othes than blackjack or poker 11.8 11.8 485
Sports 18.8 17.3 . 067
Fermutd {In¢. horse, dog, mule) 48 39 147 |
Other 0.9 14 1062

It Is Interesting that the proportion of the North Dakota adult population that has wagered in the
past year on live bingo, blackjack, poker and other card games, and on parkmutuel events did not
change between 1692 and 2000. This suggests that there are small but loyal groups of players
who engage in these activities on a regular basis,

With the exception of games of skill and telaphone and computer wagering which were not
assessad In 1992, thera have been significant declines in weekly gambling across the board for
every type of gambling included In the 1992 and 2000 surveys, With the excaption of chariiable
gambling and blackjack, all of these daclines meet the 1% hypothesis test, However, the base

kF)
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rates for all of thase acthvities in both 1892 and 2000 are exiremely low and these rasults should
be interpreted with caution.

Changes In Problem Gambling Prevalence

Table 22 shows that the combined |ifetime and current prevalence rates of problem and probable
pathological gambling in North Dakota remained stable between 1992 and 2000. While there
were declines [n the lifetime and current prevalence of problem gambling, there were significant
increasas in the lifetime and current prevalence of probable pathofogical gambling. One possible
explanation for the deciine In problem gambling rates emerges from recent longitudinal research
conducted in New Zealand. The New Zealand data suggest that individuals with less severe
gambling-related ditficulties may “transition,” or move into and out of problem gambling status,
quite rapidly. In contrast, individuals whose gambling difficulties are severe are less likely to
overcome their problems with the passage of time (Abbott, Willlams & Volberg, 1989).

Table 22: Changes in Problem Gambling Prevalence, 1992 and 2000

1992 2000
Prevalence | Prevalence | Direction | p-value
(1517) (6002) (ps.10) | (1-tail)
_ % %

Lifetime Problem 2.5 2.0 . .098
Lifetime Probable Pathological 1.0 1.8 + 014
Lifetime Combined 3.5 3.8 3168
Current Problem 13 1 __07 . 019
Current Probable Patnological 0.7 14 + 019
Current Combined 2.0 2., 385

The Increase in current probable pathological gambling In North Dakota is of particular concern
for two reasons. First, this change suggests that problem gamblers in North Dakota are
experiencing more severe difficulties related to their gambling. Second, Individuals at the more
severe end of the problem gambling *continuum® are less likely to be able to transitien out of their
difficuities on their own and are mors likely to require professional freatment to overcome their

gambling problems,

For reasons explained above and in Appendix A, it Is important to focus on changes in cycrent
pravalence when considering the number of individuals in the population who are affected by
qambling-relatad difficulties. Table 23 on tha following page presents information on changes in
the current prevelence of problem and probable pathological gambling by gender, age and
ethnicity. Table 23 shows that the prevalence of current problem and probable pathological
gambling has increased among ren and among individuals aged 38 to 84, The prevalence of
current problem gambling has decreassd among women. None of these changes meels sither
the 1% or 8% hypothasis test for statistically significant change,
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Table 23: Changes In Current Pravalence by Demographic Grou

1992 2000
Prevalence Prevalence Direction p-value
(1517) {5002) (p<.10) {1-4all)
% %
Gender Maie 1.8 2.9 + 064
Female 2.1 1.4 . .068
Age 18 - 24 7.4 4.4 21
= 25 =34 2.4 1.8 258
35 - 54 1.4 2.3 + .087
55 + 1.3 1.0 283
Elhnicty | White 8 1.6 332
Native American 11.8 15,1 320

Changes in Problem Gamblers

As noted several times In this report, research on the performance of the South Oaks Gambling
Screen has shown that the [ifetime screen is most useful when considering the charauvieristics of
individuals in the population who are currently experiencing severe difficulties relaiad to thair
gambling while the current screen is a more useful tool for detecting changes in th« ,ievalence of

problem gambling over time,

. Table 24 shows changes in the demographic characteristics of individuals with lifetime gambling
problems in North Dakota between 1992 and 2000. Problem gamblers in North Dakota in 2000
are skynificantly more likely than problem gamblers in 1992 to be male, Native American and
widowed. Problem gamblars in 2000 are significantly less likely to be female, White or married
than problem gamblers in 1992, All of these changes meet the 5% hypothesis test for statistically

significant change.

Table 24: Changes in Problem Gamblers, 1992 and 2000

1982 2000

Total Total Direction | pevalue

(53) (78) (ps.10) | {1-tail)
% %

Gender Male 84.7 88.3 * 048
Female 483 30.7 0dl)
[ Age 1824 157 17.9 404
2534 27.8 253 388
35 = 84 33.3 387 271
65 + 238 18,7 204

"Ethnicty White 92.8 80.0 . 026
Native American 7.8 173 + 084
Othef 0.0 2.7 118
Marisl Status | Marned 84.3 44,3 ’ 014
Widewed 0.0 12, + 003
lvorcediSeparated 18.9 22.9 %»e
Never Married 12.0 20.0 b

M4
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The change in the proportion of male and female problem gamblers in North Dakota betwean
1992 and 2000 is particularly interesting. While a similar change was identifled recently in
Washington State (Volberg & Moore, 1999a), other replication studies have generaily identified a
growth in the proportion of problem gambiers who a2 women (Poizin et al, 1998; Volberg &
Moore 1999b), We can speculate that changes in the gender and ethnicity of problem gamblers
in different jurisdictions are related to changes in the types of gambling that are avaiiable and
popular., Without further research, however, this remains an untested hypothesis,
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COMPARING THE SOGS AND THE NODS IN NORTH DAKOTA

In the North Dakota replication survey, a new problem gambling screen based on the most recent
criteria for pathological gambling was used in addition to the South Oaks Garnbling Screen (SOGS-.
R). The SOGS-R was viad In order to obtain prevalence data comparabie to the baseline survey
in North Dakota In 1892, The SOGS-R was also used in order to permit comparisons of the North
Dakota study with suiveys in numerous other jurisdictions internationally. The NORC DSM-IV
Screen for Problem Gambiing (NODS) was included In the replication survey in North Dakota in
order to assess pathological gambling using the most current psychiatric criteria. The NCDS was
also used to permi comparisons of the North Dakota study with the recent U.S. national survey of
gambling behavior and Impacts (Gerstain et al.,, 19989). While the analysis presemted here does
not answer questions about the validity and rellabilty of the NODS in relation ‘0 clinicai
assessments, we now have an important opportunity to understand how two different methods to
ideiitify problem and pathological gamblers in the general population operate in relation to one

another,
The NORC DSM-IV Screen for Problem Gambling (NODS)

The NODS is based on the most recent dlagnostic criteria for pathological gambling (American
Psychlatric Assoclation, 1994), The NODS is composed of 17 items, compared to the 20 tems
that make up the South Oaks Gambling Screen. The maximum score on the NODS Is 10
compared to 20 for the South Oaks Gambiing Screen, Although there are fewer items In the
NOQDS, and the maximum score is lower, the NODS Is actually more restrictive In assessing
problematic behaviors than the SOGS, A discussion of the development of the NODS is
presented in Appendix A of this repor,

Table 25 presents Information about the proportion of the total North Dakota sample (N=5,002)
who score on an Increasing number of items on the lifetime and past year NODS.}

Table 2§: Scores on Lifetime and Past Year NODS Items

Number of items Lifetime | Past Year
Non-Gamblers 182 19.2
Non Problem 74,9 76.7
1 . 39 2.2
2 1.3 0.7
At Risk 8.2 2.9
3 0.4 0.2
4 _ 0.3 0.3
Problem 0.7 0.8
$ 0.1 0.0
K 0.1 0.1
7 0.0 0.1
8 0.2 0.2
9 0.1 0.1
10 0.4 0.3
“Pathclogloal 0.8 0.7
[ Combined Probiem/Path 1.8 1.2

Vn the same way Ihet OGS based pravalence ruies wers caiculsied {see discussion of Problem Gambiing in Norh
Dakota on Page 16), NODS:based prevaiance rates ward first calculated for raspondaents who sompleicd the full Interview
(N21809) and then adjusted to the totsl ssmple (N=8002) in order (0 provide NODS pravaience rates for the adukt

populstion of Nonth Dakota.
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One Important difference between the NODS data from North Dakota and the U.S. national
survey involved the use of an additional selection criterion in the national survey. In the U.S,
national survey, the NODS was only admiiistered to respondents who indicated (in a separate
section of questions) that they had lost $100 or more in a single day or over the course of a single
year (Gerstein et al, 1999), There Is a small but interesting group of respondents in the North
Cakoia survey who scored extremely high (8+) on the lifetime and/or past year NODS but who
claimed never to have lost $100 or more in one day or year, Further research is planned to
examine the demographic characterlstics, gambling Involvement and gambling careers of these

individuals.

Table 2% compares NODS-based prevalence rates of at.risk, problem and pathoioglcal gambling
in North Dakota with those from the U.S. natlonal survey (Gerstein et al, 1999). To permi this
comparison, the North Dakota prevalence rates have been adjusted to reflect the use of the same

filter for gambling expenditures used In the national survay.

Table 28: Comparing NODS Rates for North Dakota and United States
North Dakota United States
Lifetime Past Year Lifetime Past Year .

ALRISK (1 = 2) 3.7 2.3 7. 2.9
Problem (3 - 4) 0.5 0.4 , 0.7
Pathological (5+) 0.4 0.3 ; 08

Statistical Properties of the NODS

Information about the psychometric properties of the NODS among the North L. ~ta
respondents who have ever gambled is Imporiant in assessing the relationship betv..en the two
different methods used 1o identify problem and pathoiogical gamblers used In the survey, These
analyses were carried out using only the sample of respondents who had ever gambled
(N21,609) because the problem gambling screens were onty administered to these respondents.

The accuracy of any instrument is measured by looking at the reliabilly and valldity of the
instrument (Litwin 1995). The reliability of an Instrument refers to the abily to reproduce the
rasults of the application of the test, The valicity of an Iristrumaent refers (o the abliity of the
Instrurmnent to measure what H is intended 10 measure, In examining the psychomaetric properties
of the NODS, we assess its rellability by axamining the intarnal consistency of the screen and
then analyzs the individual Hams to determine the abllity of the screen to discriminate effectively
between non-problem and problem gamblers. Wae then examine several forms of validity for the

NODS.

Rellability

The most widely accepted lest of reliabilty Is a measure if the Intarnal consistency of an
instrument. The retlability of both the Iifetime and past year NODS (N=17 each) In thu North
Dakota sample of gamblers is excellent with Cronbach's alpha at .92 and .94 respactively. These
alphas are substantially higher than the .70 that Is genarally accepted as rapresenting good
raliablity. The rellabily of the more limied sat of Hems that are scored for the NODS (N=10
aach) Is only stightly lower than the full scale, with Cronbach's alpha at .88 for the [ifetime screen

and .82 for the past year screen.
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Rellablity of the Iifetime and past year SOGS items (N#20 sach) in the North Dakola sample of
gambiers Is also high, at .86 and .91 respectively, These figures are quite similar to the reliabiltty
estimates for the scored tams of the NODS noted above.

in addition to testing the Intemal consistency of the NODS, we carried out a factor analysis of the
iifetime screen to assess how the individual kems cluster together. Factor analysis shows that
83% of the varlance for the iifetime NODS was accounted for by one factor (eigenvalue = §.32)
among North Dakota respondents who gambled, Oniy one other factor with an eigenvalue over
1.0 was identified, accounting for an additional 10% of the total varlance among Notth Dakota
respondents who gambled. Table 27 presents information about how each of the scored NODS

ilems loads on these two factors.

Table 27: Lifetime NODS Rotated Component Matrix

Factor 1 Loading | Factor 2 Loading
NODS Sc¢ored items (Blgenvaiue 8.32) (Eigenvalue 1.02)
Preogcupation 21 74 ]

olerance 26 77
Withdrawsi .70 .40
Loss of Control 77 40
Escape 54 .35
Chasing .24 .74
Lying 72 .41
ilegal Acts 72 25
Risked Significant Relationship 81 14
Ballout .84 A3
item Analysis

Endorsernent of the lifetime NODS tems amang North Dakota gamblers ranged from a high of
3.8% (Chasing) to a low of 0.9% (L.oss of Control). It Is Instructive to compare positive responses
to specific tems by problem gamblers and non-problem gambilers to see how well the different
iterns discriminate between these groups. For this analysis, we used the lifetime SOGS
classification of non-problem and problem gamblers to prevent confusion between the method of
classifylng respondents and the items by which they were classified. While this analysis was
completed for both the lifetime and current screens, only the lifetime results are presented here.

Table 28: Comparing SOGS Non-Problem and Problem Gamblers

Non-Problem Problem
NOOS Scored Items Gamblers Gamblers p-value*
' (1534) (75)
% %
Preoccupation 1.2 28.0 .000
Tolerance 1.0 28.0 .000
Withdrawal 0.3 20.0 .000
| Loss of Control 0.1 18.7 000
Escape 1.3 32.0 .000
Chasing 2.0 36.0 .000
Lying 0.1 24.0 .000
llegal Acts _ 0.4 16.0 .000
Risked Significant Relationship 0.8 25.3 .000
Bailout 0.3 21.3 .000
Mean NODS Scare .07 2.48 .000

* Fisher Exact Test chi-square
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Table 28 shows that all of the NODS items discriminate effectively between SOGS-defined
problem and non-problem gambiers in North Dakota. The most affective discriminator among the
NODS tems is Chasing with 38% of the SOGS Iifetime problem gambiers scoring a positive
response in contrast lo only 2% of the non-problem gamblers. The nexs best discriminator is
gambiing to Escape, with 32% of the SOGS Iifetime problem gambiers scoring a positive
response compared to 1.3% of the non-problem gamblers. Table 28 also shows that there is a
significant difference in mean scores on the lifetime NODS items for non-problem and problem
gamblers, supporting the notion that the Iifetime NODS measures something similar to the lifetime

SOGS.
Validity

There are several different types of validity that can be measured {0 assess the performance of
an instrument, These Include content, criterlon, congruent and construct validity. Content validity
i3 a subjective measure of how appropriate the lems seem to a set of reviewers who have some
knowledge of the subject matter. Since the NODS is so closely based on the DSM-IV criteria,
and since these crilerla have been shown to have good content validity, it Is likely that the NODS

also has good content valkity (Lesleur & Rosenthal, 1991).

Criterion Validity

Criterion valldity requires that the instrument be judged against some other method that is
acknowledged as a standard for assessing the same phenomenon. As a first step, we calculated
the correlation coefficlent between the lifetime NODS and the lifetime South Oaks Gambling
Screen. The result of this analysis was statistically significant at the .01 level (Pearson

correlation coefficlent.77).

To better understand how the SOGS and the NODS operate in relation to one another, it Is useful
lo examine how respondents scored on each of these Instruments in more detaill. Table 28
shows the number of respondents who scored at different ievels on the lifetime SOGS and the

lifetime NODS,

Table 29: Comparing Scores on the SOGS and the NODS
| NODS
SOGS 0 1-2 | 3-4 | 5+ | Total

¢ 1060 23 1083
1-2 386 60 2 1 448
3-4 28 11 2 39
5 9 8 14 36

Total 1477 | 103 12 15 1607

Table 29 shows that the lifetime NODS operates quite well in relation to the lifetime SOGS in
North Dakota. Respondents who score low on the NODS also tend to score low on the SOGS
and 89% of the respondents who score three or more on the NODS also score three or more on
the SOGS. In contrast, only 32% of respondents who score three or more on the lifetime SOGS

also score at this level or above on the lifetime NOOS.
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Congruent Vaiidity
Since several of the Hems on the SOGS and NODS are similar, it Is possible to check whether

respondents answered similar questions differently. Table 30 shows how respondents who
gambled answered several similar questions from the lifetime SOGS and the Iifetime NODS,

Table 30: Comparing Scores an Similar SOGS and NODS Htems

Postive
SOGS or NODS item Score
(1808)
%
CHASING Go back ancther day to win money you lost (chasing) (SOG8) 05
OHen return anclher day 10 get even (chasing) (NODS) 36
LYING Claimed to win when in fact lost (SOGS) 32
Lied three or more limes to family/others about gambling (NODS) 1.3
TOLERANCE | Spend more lime or maney gambling than intended (SOGS) 18.0
Need to gamble with increasing amounis 1o ge! same exciiement (NODS) 2.3
LOSS OF Would like to slop gambling but couldn't (SOGS) 24
CONTROL Made 3+ attempls to stop, cut down or control gambling (NODS) 09

Table 30 shows that, for the most part, respondents are less |ikely to give an answer thal scores
as a positive response on the lifetime NODS questions than on the lifetime SOGS items. This is
particularly the case for the items assessing Tolerance. Respondents are more likely to give a
positive answer to the NODS question assessing Chasing than to the SOGS item assessing the
same behavior. This analysis suggests that funther research is needed on the cognitive
properties of all of the problem gambling screens presently in use.

Comparing SOGS and NODS Problem Gamblers

The lifetime prevalence of problem gambling in North Dakota, measured by the NODS, is lower
than the lifetime prevalence of problem gambling identified with the South Oaks Gambling
Screen. While only 0.7% of the total sample of gamblers (N=1,609) scored 3 or 4 paints on the
lifetime NODS, 2.4% of the total sample scored 3 or 4 points on the lifetime SOGS. While 0.9%
of the total sample scored 5 or more points on the lifetime NODS, 2.2% of the total sample scored

5 or more points on the lifetime SOGS.

Table 31 on the following page compares the demographic characteristics of lifetime problem
gamblers as defined by the NODS with lifetime problem gamblers as defined by the SOGS.
Since both the SOGS and the NODS groups are relatively small, and since most of the NODS
problem group are part of the SOGS problem group as well, no effort has been made to lest the
differences for statistical significance, Table 31 shows that problem gamblers identified using the
lifetime NODS are more likely than problem gamblers identified using the lifetime SOGS to be
under the age of 30 and Native American and less likely to be married. The small size of the
group of NODS problem gamblers preciudes further analysis of differences between NODS- and
SOGS-identifled problem gamblers.
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Table 31; Comparing Demographics of SOGS and NODS Problem Gamblers

S0G8 NODS
Problem Problem
Gamblers Gamblers
(78) (27}
% %
Gender Male 80.9 72.4
Female 30.7 27.6
[ Age 18 = 20 28.7 44.8
30 - 54 547 7.9
£4+ 18.7 17.2
L'Ethmcrtx White 80.0 84.3
Natlve American 17.3 36.7
Hispanic - -
Other t 2.7 -
Marital Status | Married 44.3 29.2
Widowed 12.9 20.8
Divorced/Separated 22.0 29.2
Never Maried 20.0 20.8
Education Elemantary / Some HS 14.3 14.8
HS Grad 22.9 296
Some College 40.0 33.3
BA Degree 12.9 22.2

. Graduate Study 10.0 —_
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SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

The main purpose of this study was to examine changes In the prevalence of gambiing-related
problems in the adult popuiation In North Dakota between 1882 and 2000. An additional purpose
of this study wasg to compare prevalence rates of problem gambling in North Dakola with
prevalence rates from other |urisdictions. A third, and final, purpose of this study was to iKdentify
the types of gambling causing tha greatest difficulties for the citizens of North Dakota. The
resulls of this study will be useful in documenting the impacts of legal gambling on the citizens of
North Dakota and In refining the senvices available to individuals in North Dakota with gambling.

relatad difficuities.

Summary

The lypes of gambling thal North Dakotans are most likely to have trled are charitable games,
gaming machines, pulltabs, lottery games and iive hingo. The favorite types of gambling, among
those who have ever gambled, are gambling machines, charitable gambling, blackjack and live
bingo. Non-gambiers in North Dakota are more likely than gamblers to be over the age of 85,
widowed, and retired. Non-gamblers in North Dakota are also more likely to have annual
household incomes under $25,000. Regular, weekly gamblers In North Dakota are more likely
than less frequent gamblers to be male, aged 35 to 54, Natlve American, and to reside in the
northwest (NW) region of the Slate. Weekly gamblers in North Dakota are aiso more likely to be
divorced or separated, to be either working fulitime or {o be disabled or unemployed, and to have

annual household incomes between $20,000 and $25,000.

The combined lifetime prevalence of problem and pathological gambling in North Dakota is 3.8%
and the combined past year prevalence is 2.1%. Past year prevalence rates are highest among

adults aged 18 o 24 and among Nalive Americans, Past year prevalence rates are highest
among individuals who gamble weekly or more often and among past year horse race betiors,
among past year players of casino table games such as roulette or keno, and among blackjack

and other card game players,

Further analysis shows that lifetime problem gamblers in North Dakota (those most likely to be in
need of services) are significantly more likely than non-problem gamblers 1o be male, aged 30 to
34, Native American, widowed, divorced or separaled, to have less than 2 high school education,
to be disabled or unemployed, and to have annual household incomes between $20,000 and
$25,000. Problem gamblers in North Dakota are significantly more likely than non-probiem
gamblers to have gambled on blackjack, pulltabs and gaming machines on a monthly basis.

Problem gamblers in North Dakota are significantly more likely than non-problem gamblers to
have been troubled in the past year by the gambling of someone they live with, lo have engaged
in physical arguments about their own or another's gambling, to have filed for bankruptcy in the
past year, and to have been arrested. Problem gamblers in North Dakola are significantly more
likely than non-problem gamblers to smoke daily, to drink alcohol reguiarly, and to have used
marfjuana or cocaine. Problem gamblers in North Dakota are significantly more likely than non-
problem gamblers to report experiencing problems due to their use of alcohol and drugs and to
have sought help for an emotional or substance abuse problem. Finally, problem gambiers in
North Dakota are significantly more likely than non-problem gamblers to have ever experienced

an egisode of mania or depression.

In spite of the Inclusion of more young males (traditionadly the heaviest gambiers in the general
population) in the survey sample, gambiing participation has dropped significantly in North Dakota
between 1992 and 2000. The proportion of the adult population in North Oakota that gambles

once a week or more often declined from 12% ta 4%, Whie gambiing participation in general has
declined, lifetime participation rates have increasad tor gaming mactunes and lottery products.
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Similarly, past year participation rates have increased for gaming machines, lottery products and
casino table games such as roulelte and keno.

The combined prevalence of problem and pathological gambiing did not change significantly in
North Dakota between 1992 and 2000, However, the prevalence of both ilfetime and past year
pathological gambling (the most severe category) has increased significantly. This suggests that
problem gamblers in North Dakota are experiencing more severe problems and may be in greater
need of services. Problem gamblers in North Dakota In 2000 are significantty more likely than
those In 1992 lo be male, to be Native American and to b e widowed, Problem gamblers in North
Dakota In 2000 are significantly less likely than those In 1892 to be married.

Directions for the Future

The impacts of gambling-reiated problems can be high, not only for individuals but for families and
communities. Pathological gamblers experience physical and psychological stress and exhibit
substantial rates of depression, alcohol and drug dependence and suicidal kdealion. The families of
pathological gamblers experience physical and psychological abuse as well as harassment and
threats from biil collectors and creditors. Other significant impacts Include costs to employers,
creditors, insurance companies, social service agencies and the civil and criminal justice systems

(Lesieur, 1988),
How Many To Plan For?

One important purpose of a prevalence survey Is to identify the number of indlviduals In a
jurisdiction who may need treatment services for gambling-related difficuities at a given point in
lime. Experience in many jurisdictions suggests that not all of the Individuats In need of treatment
for a physical or psychological problem will seek out such treatment, From a policy perspective, the

questlon Is: How many individuals should we plan to provide for?

Racenlly, resea ch Indicating that approximately 3% of individuals with severe alcohol-related
difficulties acluaily seek treatment In any one year (Smith, 1993) was successfully replicated in
predicting the number of problem gamblers who would seek treatment In two Australlan states
(Dickerson, 1997). This approach was further tested in Oregon, one of only a few Jurisdictions
where treatment services for problem gamblers are widely available. The resuits of the prevalence
survey in Oregon suggested that between 600 and 1400 Individuals would seek treatment per year.
In fact, the problem gambling treaiment programs in Oregon have an average annual enroltment of
610 problem gamblers and family members per year (Volberg, 1997).

In calculating the number of problem and pathological gamblers who might seek treatment in
North Dakota, we focus on the group of individuals who score as current probable pathological
gamblers (e.g. the 4,300 to 9,000 individuals represented by the confidence interval around the
point estimate for current probable pathological gambling in North Dakota). Based on this
approach, we estimate that North Dakota should plan (o provide problem gambiing treatment
services to between 130 and 270 individuais per year.

Recommendations

Given the increase In the prevalence of probable palhological gambiing and the dearth of effective
services for problem gamblers, there are several sieps that state legisiators and other concerned
parties may wish to consider implementing ;1 North Dakola. in making sug_’n decisions,
consideration could be given to developing the following senices and activities:

working with Insurance companies o ottain cousrage for tresdmant carvicos far individuals
with gainbling-related Jiffivultise;
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refinement of public education and prevention services targeted toward particular at-risk
groups (8.9. youth, Natlve Americans) as well as venues where problem gamblers are most
llkely lo be found. These include lribal casinos and bars, taverns, restaurants and lounges
where chartable gambiing, such as pulltabs and blackjack, takes place;

o Support gf Industry policles and programs to minimize gambling-related difficulties among
patrons;

developmen! of specific governmerit-indusiry Initiatives to address problem gambling
Issues In North Dakota;

o expanding training opportunities 1o educate more menta! health, alcohol and substance
abuse treatment professionals in how to screen for gambling problems and pathology as wel
as when and where to refer such Individuals for appropriate treatment;

¢ establishment of a8 gambling counselor certification program 10 ensure that Indlviduals
seeking help for gambling-retated difficulties receive appropriate and effective services;

an /ncrease In funding to support education, prevention and treatment of problem gambling
through the Depariment of Human Services;

o evaluation of exdsting services as well as those established In the future; and

o continued monftoring of gambling and prohlem gambling prevalence {0 assess the impacts of
legal gambling on the residents of North Dakota.

. '_l‘n Washington Stats, for exampis, an industry working group, representing ail of the diffohnt types of gambiing avasable
in the state, meets on a quarterty basis o address problem gambiing issues.
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APPENDIX A

Methods to Assess Problem Gambling in the General Population
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When gambling is legalized, the vperation and oversight of these activities become par o: the
routine processes of government. Gambling commissions are established, revenues are
distributed, and constiuencies of customers, workers and organizations develop. Governments
become dependent on revenues from legal gambling to fund essential servicas. Maty none
gambling occupations and businesses also become dependent on revenues from legal gambling
to continue to operale profitably, Including convenience stores, reteli operators, restaurants,
hotels, soclal clubs and charftable organizations. Ancillary services, including leégal, accounting,
architectural, public ralations and edvertising, security and flnanclal organizations, e xpand their
actlvities to provide for the needs of gambling operations (Volberg, 1908),

A critical element In the growing legitimacy of gambling has been the *medicalization” of gambling
problems and the professionalization of gambling treatment (Abt & McGurrin, 1891; Rosecrance,
1985), in other words, the acceptance of gambling problems as suitable subjects for disciplines
such as psychiatry, clinical psychology, and epidemiology. A constituency of well-educated
treatment professionals has emerged whose tivelihoods come from providing services lo
governments and gaming operalors. Qrganizations that provide services to these helping
professions~—hospitals, clinics, governmeni health agencies, universities and colleges, the
insurance Industry—have growing Interests in the development of legal gambling., These
organizations are Investing increasing though still relatively modest resources In training and
certifying treatment professionals, in educating students, and in covering treatment for

pathological gambling.
The Soc/al Construction of Psychlatric Measures

The tools used 1o generate numbers are always a reflection of the work that researchers and
others are doing 1o identify and describe the phenomena In which they are interested (Becker,
1980; Dean, 1979; Gerson, 1983). Historically, standardized measures and indices have often
emerged in situations where there Is, simultaneously, Intense distrust and a percelved need for
public action (Porter, 1885). Examples include the emergence of measures of “public utility” in
France in the mid-1800s and the development of cost-benefit analysis in the United States in the

mid-1900s.

There have been three *generations” of psychialric research since the turn of the century. The
third, and latest, generation of studies began arvund 1980 and coincided, as did the first two
generations, with dramatic changes in psychiatric nomenclature (Dohrenwend, 1998), The
pubtication of the third edition of the Diagnostic and Statlstical Manual (DSM-IIl) (American
Psychiatric Association, 1980), with its systematic approach to psychlatric diagncses, led diructly
fo the development of semk-structured interviews and rating examinations for use by cliniclans.
These tools were quickly adopted for epidemiological research despite the retative lack of
research on the validity of these case identification procedures with general population samples

(Dohrenwend, 1995),

Measuring Gambling Problems: A Case Study

With the rapid expansion of legal gambling in the 1980s, state governmsiils began to establish
services for individuals with gambling problems. In estabilshing these services, policy makers and
program planners quickly sought answers to questions about the number of “pathological gamblers®
in the general popuiation who might seek help for thelr difficuities. These questions required
epidemiological research to idenilfy the number {or “cases”) of pathological gambiers, ascertain the
demographic characteristics of these indlviduals, and determine the |ikelihood that they would utitize

reatment services if these becane available.

Following the inclusion of the diagnosis of pathological gambling in the DSM-IU! for the first time in
1980 (American Psychiatric Association, 1980), a few researchers frorp a variety of scéeptifn:
disciplines, including psychiatry csychology, and sociology, began to investigate gambling-

A1

Gambling and Problem Gambling in North Dakota




related difficulties using various methods from psychlatric epidemiology. Al this time, few toals
existed to measure gambling-related difficulties. The only tool that had been rigorously
developed and lested for s performance was the South Qaks Gambling Screen (SOGS).

The SOGS, closely based on the new diagnostic criteria for pathological gambling, was originally
developed to screen for gambling problems in clinical populations (Lesieur & Blume, 1887). The
20 welighted tems on the SOGS Include hiding evidence of gambling, spending more time or
money gambling than intended, arguing with family members over gambling and borrowing money
from a variety of sources to gambie or to pay gambling debts. In developing the SOGS, specific
tems as well as the entire screen were tested for rellability and validity with a variety of groups,
including hospital workers, university students, prisan inmates and inpatients in alcohol and
substance abuse treatment programs (Lesieur & Blume, 1987, Lesleur, Blume & Zoppa 1986;

Lesieur & Klein 1985).
Adopting the South Qaks Gambling Screen in Population Research

Like other tools in psychiatric research, the SOGS was quickly adopted in clinical settings as well
as in epldemiological research. The SOGS was first used in a prevalence survey in New York
State (Volberg & Steadman, 1988). By 1998, the SOGS had been used in population-based
research In more than 45 jurisdictions in the United States, Canada, Asla and Europe (Abbott &
\VVolberg, 2000; Bondolfi, Osiek & Ferrero, 2000, Gersteln et al, 1998; Productivity Commission,
1999; R8nnberg et al, 1999; Shaffer, Hall & Vander Bilt, 1999; Sproston, Erens & Orford, 2000).
This widespread use of the SOGS came at least partly from the great advantage of comparability
within and across jurisdictions that came with use of a standard tool (Walker & Dickerson, 1998).
Although there were increasingly well-focused grounds for concem about the performance of the
S0GS in non-clinical environments, this tool remained the de facto standard in the fleld until the
mid-1990s, when the new DSM-1V criteria were published (American Psychialric Association,

1994, Volberg & Banks, 1990).

Like all tools to detect physical and psychological maladies, screens to detect gambling problems
can be expected to generate some errors in classification. However, misclassification has very
different consequences in differant settings. Misclassification can occur when an individuat without
the malady In question is misdiagnosed as having the malady. This type of classification error is

called a false positive. Misclassification ¢an also vccur when an Individusl with the malady is
misdiagnosed as nol having the malady. This type of classification error Is called a false neqative

(see table below). While most screens to delect psychiatric disorders work well in clinical settings
where lhe prevalence of the disorders under investigation Is predictably high, the accuracy of many
psychialric screens declines when thay are used among populations where prevalence Is much
lower, such as the general population (Dohrenwend, 1995),

Classification Condition

Pathological Non.Patholegical

'+ Pathological True Positive False Positive

Non-Pathologleal False Negative True Neagative

Cliniclans are concerned with the (ssue of false pasiives because the cost of treating someone
who does not need traatmant is exiremaly high. Clinicians are also concemed with falsa negatives
because of the snormous Impact assoclated with fallure to correctly diagnose an indiidual with a
disorcier. In population research, where the primary concern is accurately identifying the number

A2

Gambling snd Problem Gambling in North Dakots




of people with and without the disorder, both types of classification error are also important, but
for different reasons. In population research, each type of classification error has an independent
impact on the overall efficiency of the screen. Indeed, the rate of false negatives may be of
principal concem In population research since even a very low rate of false negatives can have a
large effect on the overall efficiency of a screen (l.e. the total proportion of individuals who are

correctly classified).

Let us take as an example a group of 1,000 individuals of whom 5% are classified as pathological
and 95% are classified as non-pathological. Let us assume that the rale of false positives is 50%
so that 25 of the 50 pathological gamblers are misclassified. Even if the rate of false negatives
were much lower, say 5%, 47 of the 950 non-pathological gamblers would be misclassified. Thus,
even a very low rate of false negatives will generate a group that is nearly twice as large as the

group of false posttives (see table below).

Pathological Non-Pathological Total
Pathological 25 25 50
Non-Pathological 47 903 950
Total 72 928 10’1(: |

Validating the South Oaks Gambling Screen

A national study in New Zealand in the early 1990s fumished an opporiunity to examine the
performance of the South Osks Gambling Screen in the general population (Abbott & Voiberg,
1992, 1998). This opportunity arose from the two-phase rasearch design esmployed in the New
Zealand study. This design allowed the researchers to identify lrue patholoqical gamblecs among
particular groups of respondents. In the New Zealand study, true pathological gamblers were
identlfied in each of four groups included in the survey: (1) probable pathological gamblers, (2)
problem gambilers, (3) regular continuous gamblers and (4) regular non-continuous gamblers, No
errof rate was detemmined for respondents In the New 2ealand study who did not acknowledge
gambling on a regular basis. Prevalence rales were correcled using the “efficiency approach”
which involved caiculating the rate of true pathologicai gamblers in each group and dividing this
number by the total number of respondents in the sample. The efficiency approach resulted in a
ravised current prevalence estimate in New 2ealand that was 0.1% higher than the uncorrected

current prevalence rate,

This revised estimate in New Zealand rested on the conservative assumption that there were no
false negatives armong individuals who diki not gamble reguiarly. While the arror rates in @ach of the
four groups have an impact on the overall prevalence rate, the size of the error rate for each group
has a different impact because of the differen! sizes of these groups In the population, Even if the
number of false negatives in the non-pathological group or among respondents who do rot gamble
regularly ware axtremely small, the relatively large size of these groups contributes 10 a noticeably
higher overall prevalence rate, For example, if the large proportion of the popuiation that gambles
on a less than weekly basis is assumad to Include a very small number of pathalogical gamblers

(1%), the pravalence estimate increases by 0.7%.
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The New Zealand researchers concluded that the |ifetime South Oaks Gambling Screen is very
good at detecting pathological gambling among those who currently experience the disorder,
Howewver, As expected, the screen identifies at-risk individuals at the expense of generating a
substantlal number of false posttives. The current South Oaks Gambling Screen produces fewer
false positives than the lifetime measure but more false negatives and thus provides a weaker
screen for identifying pathological gamblers In the clinical sense. However, the greater efficiency of
the current South Oaks Gambling Screen makes #t a8 more useful tool for detecting rates of change
in the prevalence of problem and pathological gambling over lime (Abbott & Volberg, 1996).

Although there are questions about the validity of applying resulls from research in New Zealand to
studies in the United States, the New Zealand research does suggest that estimates of the lifetime

prevalence of problem and probable pathological gambiing over-state the actual prevalence of
pathological gambling. However, since the lifetime South Oaks Gambling Screen does a good job

of identifying pathological gamblers in the general population, information about the characteristics
of these respondents is valuable in planning the impiementation and development of services for
pathological gamblers in the community. The New Zealand research further suggests that
estimates of the current prevalence of problem and probable pathological gambling are quite

accurate,

A recent study in Minnesota supports the New Zealand work on the performance of the SOGS
(Stinchfield, 1897). In the Minnesota research, the SOGS and a nineteen-item version of the
DSM-IV criteria (the DIGS—Diagnostic Interview for Gambling Severity) were administered to
three samples, including a general population sample, a sample of caliers to a gambling hotline
and a sample of individuals entering treatment for a gambling problem. As in New Zealand,
Stinchfield found that the accuracy of the SOGS was high among individuals who called a
gambling hotline or were entering treatment but that the instrument did not perform as well in the
general population. Stinchfigld concluded that the SOGS had satisfactory reliability and validity in
all three samples. However, he argued that the SOGS is best suited for identifying individuals at
risk while the DIGS Is more useful if the goal of a study is to estimate the prevalence of

pathological gambilng in the general population.

Growing Concerns wilh the South Oaks Gambling Screen

Beginning in the early 1990s, a varlety of methodological questions were raised about SOGS-based
research in the general population (Culleton, 1989; Dickerson, 1993b; Lesleur, 1994; Volberg,
1994 Walker, 1992), Some of these issues, such as respondent denial and rising refussi rates,
were common o all survey research. Other questions were related to the issue of how to best
study gambling-related difficulties. These included resarvations about the reliability and validity of
the SOGS as well as challenges 1o assumptions about the nature of gambling problems that were

built into the original versian of this instrumment.

What led to the growing dissatisfaction with the South Oaks Gambling Screen? One important
change was the rapid expansion of legal gambling ftself. This expansion led many people who
had never before gambled to lry these activities. As legal gambling expanded Into new markets
and as naw types of gambling ware markeled 10 new groups, (he individuals seeking help for
gambling difficulties became increasingly heterogeneous, Representatives of the gambling
industries also playad a role in challenging the supremacy of the South Qaks Gambling Screen
through their efforts to discredit what they saw as unacceptabiy high prevalence rates,

Prevalence surveys In the early 19908 suggested that growing numbers of women and middie.

class individuals were developing gambling problams (Volberg, 1892, 1688; Volberg & Silver,
1993). Several of the specific kems inciuded in the SOGS made little sense to these new groups

or to the treatmant professionals working with them. Quaestions about borrowing from loansharks,
for axample, or cashing In stocks and bonds o get money {0 gamble or pay gambling debts were
more relsvant to the middle-aged, mkidie-class men most likely to seek help for gambling
problems in the 1970s and early 1680s than to the young adults and mkidle-aged women who
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began to experience gambling problems in the 1990s. Questions about others criticizing one's
gambling and feeling guilty about one’s gambling were more likely to recelve a positive response
from low-income and minority respondents than others in the population (Volberg & Steadman,
1992). Questions about borrowing from the *household” to get morey to gamble would be
interpreted differently by individuals from ethnic groups where “household® may be defined as the

entire extended family.

There were also multiplying needs for tools in different settings. Starting in the early 1990s,
growing government resources became available for services for problem gamblers. In 1985,
only three states funded services for problem gamblers. In 1998, 21 stales funded an array of
services for problem gamblers, including education, prevention, and referral; an increase of 600
percent in ten years (Cox et al, 1997), Along with these resources came new demands for
accountabllity and performance. These demands drew further attention to the deficiencies of the
South Qaks Gambling Screen and increased dissatisfaction with its performance in general

population studies.
Emergence of New Problem Gambling Screens

In 1994, the fourth edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual (DSM-IV) adopted a new sef.of
criteria for the diagnosis of pathological gambiing. The changes made to the psychiatric criteria
for pathological gambling incorporated empirical research that tinked pathologlcal gambiing to
other addictive disorders like atcohol and drug dependence (American Psychiatric Association,
1994). In developing the DSM-1V criteria, 222 self-identified pathological gamblers and 104
substance abusers who gambled soclally tested the individual Aems (Lesieur & Rosenthal, 1891).
Discriminant analysis was used to identify the iterns that best differentiated between pathological
and non-pathological gamblers. While the results from this sample indicated that a cutoff of 4
points was appropriate, the American Psychiatric Associatlon established a diagnostic cutoff of §
points, Pathological gambling is now defined as persistent and recurrent maladaptive gambling
behavior as indicated by five or more of ten criteria (listed in Table 1 on Page 3 of this repor),
with the reservation that the behavior is not better accounted for by manic episodes—-a
reservation added somewhat as an afterthought, as it was not part of the underlying research on

which the DSM-1V criteria were based.

Most researchers conducting gambling studies and treatment professionals working with

indIviduals with gambling problems have expressed satisfaction with the new DSM-IV criteria,
Internationally, numerous researchers and treatment professionals have adopted the OSM-IV
criteria In their work and these criteria are now the measure against which the performance of

othor instruments must be demonstrated.

There is a growing community of researchers and treatment professtonals active in the gambling
field and a growing numbaer of tools to measure gambling ptoblems for differant purposes. Until
1990, only thrae screens existed to identify individuals with gambling problems, Including the ISR
screen used in the last national study; the CCSM:; and the SOGS (Culleton, 1989, Kallick et al,
1978; Lesieur & Blume, 1987). Since 1990, nine screens for adulls and three screens for
adolescants have been developed, including two based on the SOGS and at least four based on
the DSM-IV criteria. Despite this proliteration, the psychomelric properiias of most of these new
tools remain unexamined. Even more significantly, few of these new screens have been tested
for thelr differential parformance in clinical settings, population research, and program evaluation.
Another concern {8 how to calibrate the parformance of these new screens with the resuits of

mora than a decade of SOGS-based research.
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The 1998 National Survey'

In 1998, the National Gambling Impact Study Commission contracted with the National Opinion
Research Center to collect data from a nationally rePresematlve sample of households about
gambling behavior and gambling-related problems. © This was the first national survey of
gambling behavior conducted since 1875. The questionnaire for the national survey
supplemented demographic and geographic information with economic and family indicators,
Respondents were asked highly detailed questions about their gambling behavior and about
adverse consequences related to gambling. Respondents were aiso asked questions about their
physical and mental health, about alcohol and substance use and dependence and about criminal

records,

The guidelines of the National Gambling Impact Study Commission specified that the DSM-IV
criterla be used to identify respondents with gambling-related difficulties in the general population.
This meant that the study team could not use the South Oaks Gambling Screen since this is
based on the OSM-Iti criterla. Instead, the study team developed a series of questions designed
to match the DSM-IV criteria for diagnosing pathological gambling. This series of questions is
referred to as the NODS (the National Qpinion Research Center DSM Screen for Gambling

Problems).

Development of the NODS

The NODS is composed of 17 lifetime tems and 17 past year tems, compared to the 20 lifetime
items and 20 past year tems that make up the South Oaks Gambling Screen. The maximum
score on the NODS s 10 compared to 20 for the South Oaks Gambling Screen. Although there
are fewer items in the NODS, and the maximum score Is lower, the NODS Is actually more
restrictive in assessing problematic behaviors than the SOGS or any other screen based on the

DSM-1V criteria.

For example, several of the DSM-IV criteria are difficult to establish with a single question. In
assessing these criteria (Preoccupation, Escape, Risking a Significant Relationship), two or three
questions were used with respondents receiving a single point if they give a posiiive response 1o
any of the questions assessing that criterion. Another complication in construcling the NODS is
that two of the DSM-IV criteria (Withdrawal, Loss of Control) assume that the questioner already
knows that the individual has trled to *stop, cut down, or control® her or his gambling, These
criteria were assessed with the NODS by fiest determining whether the respondent had tried to
control her or his gambiing before assessing whether the respondent had felt restless or irritable
during these limes (Withdrawal) and, then, assessing whether the respondent had succeeded in

doing so (Loss of Control).

Another decision in developing the NODS was to place definite limits on several of the criteria, in
keeping with the approach taken in alcohol and drug abuse rasearch, For example, In assessing
Preaccupation, the NODS asks if the periods when respondents spent a lot of time thinking about
gambling or about getting monay to gamble have lasted 2 weeks of longer, Similarly, the NODS
asks if raspondents have tried, but ot succeeded, in controiling their gambling three or more
times (Loss of Control). Respondents are also asked if they have lied to others about thekr
gambling three or more times (Lying). Only a posttive response to these latter tems are included
in the final score for the NODS.

' This section ts based on the final report to the National Gambling Impact Sludy Commission (Gersteln ! al, 1999).
The Nationsl Opinion Research Center formed & study tuam thet included Gemini Resesrch, Lid,, the Lewin Group and
ChristisnservCummings Associales, Inc. In sddition 10 the survay of 2408 adults, research intiatives Included a national
survey of 834 youths sged 18 snd 17, Intercept Interviews with 830 adul patrons of gsming faciities, 8 longttudinal data
base (1980 to 1996) of social and econemic indicators and estimated gambiing revenues In & random nationa! sample
of 100 communiies and case studies In 10 communities regarding the effects of large.scsie casinos opening In close

proximy,

A4

Qambling and Problem Gambling in North Cakota




In the national survey, NORC chose to administer the NODS only to those respondents who
acknowledged ever losing $100 or more in a single day of gambling and/or thase who
acknowledged thal they had been behind at least $100 across an entire year of gambling at some
point in their lives. This decision was made after pretesting indicated that non-gamblers and
infrequent gamblers grew impatient with repeated questions about gambling problems and after a
review of other problem gambling surveys showed that persons who had never experienced
significant losses were uniikely to report problems relaled to gambling. Further research is
needed to determine whether the use of these filters in other problem gambling studies is

warranted.
Validity and Reliability of the NODS

In the study of clinical disorders, pathological gambling counts as a chronic rather than as an
acute disorder. Once fully developed, chronic disorders leave a lifelong vulnerability. This
wlnerability may be effectively treated and kept in check. However, periods when an individual is
relatively free of symptoms do not mean that the person is frre of the disorder. From the
perspective of measuring prevalence, the strongest emphas.s belongs on the determination of .
whether pathological gambling has developed rather than on whether its symptoms are recent or
current. This is clearly reflected In the DSM-IV criteria, which focus on the accumulation of
discrete symploms through the present and do not require that specific symptoms be clustered

tightly logether in time,

As noted above, research on the performance of the SOGS has shown that the fifetime screen s
very good at detecting pathological gambling among those who currently experience the disorder.
However, the lifetime SOGS accurately identifles at-risk individuals at the expense of generating
higher numbers of false positives. Based on the construction of the NODS as well as the resuils
from the natlonal survey, the research team believes that the specificity of the NODS will be very
good, reducing the rate of false positives among those ctassifled with the lifetime screen: and in
this respect, contrasting with the performance of the SOGS.

One important step in developing the NODS was a fleld test with a natlonal clinical sampie of 40
individuals In outpatient problem gambling treatment programs. Based on the fleld lest, the
research team concluded that the NODS had strong internal consistency, retest rellabilty and
good validity. The fleld test demonstrated thal the sepsitivity of the lifetime NODS In a ¢linical
population was higher than the past year NODS. This is what one would expect if pathological

gambling is appropriately conceptualized as a chronic disorder,

In the future, it will be important to examine whether the lifetime NODS, with its focus on the
accumulation of symptoms over lime, works better than the past year NODS, with its focus on the
clustering of symptoms in time. It will also be important to calibrate the lifetime NODS with the

South Oaks Gambling Screen, both Iifatime and past year.

Assessing Problem Gambling in the Future

The assumption underlying all of the existing gambling research is that gambling-related difficullies
are a robust phenomenon and that gambling problems exist In the community and can be
measured. Despite agreement among rasearchers and trealment professionals at this fundamental
level, there is disagreement about the concepts and measurement of gambling-related difficulties.
While the ascription of *conceplual ard methodological chaos’ to the fieid (Shaffer, Hall & Vander
Biit, 1097: 8) may be an overstatement of the situation among its experienced rasearchars, the
prasence of compeling concepts and methods Is not uncornmon among emerging and even mafure
sclentific flelds. Neveriheless disputes among experis have lad to some degres of public confusion

and uncertainly about the impacts of legal gambiing on soclety,
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In the late 1990s, the issues surrounding legal gambiing have become far more complex Policy
makers, government agencies, gambling regulators and gaming operators are concemed about the
likely impacts of changing mbees of legal gambling on the gambling behavior of broad segments of
the population as well as on the prevaience of gambling-related difficulties. Public heaith
researchers and soclal sclentists are concemed with minimizing the risks of legal gambting to
particular subgroups in the population. Economists, financlal insttutions and law enforcement
professionals are concermned about the relationship between legal gambiing and bankruptcies,
gambling and crime, and the reliance of the gaming industries on problem gamblers for revenues.
Treatment professionals, government agencies and not-for-proft organizations are concemed
about how to allocate scarce resources for the prevention and treatment of gambiing problems
(Volberg, 1998). Finally, groups opposed to the expansion of legal gambling have started working
to prevent the further expansion of legal gambling or repeal existing actlvities.

Like much of sclence, measurement is a negotiable process. Instrumentation Is always a
reflection of the work that researchers are doing to identify and describe the phenomena in which
they are interested. As research on problem gambling continues, our systems for classifying
problem gambiers must change. The South Oaks Gambling Screen represents a culturaily and
historically situated consensus about the nature of probiem gambling. As research continues and
as the definitions of problem gambiing change, new instruments and new methods for estimating
prevalence in the general population and for testing models of gambling behavior will continue to -
emerge, These emerging methods must be tested against each other and against the South
Oaks Gambling Screen In order to advance the field of problem gambling research in an orderty
manner, ensuring the relevance of our past work as well as our work in the future.
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Constructing the Weights for the North Dakota Survey

By:
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1. Sample and weighting overview. The sample is a “two-phase probabilty sample® (Kish, 1965,
Chap. 12), also called a *double sample” (Cochran, 1963, Chap. 12), of adult members of
households with telephones located in North Dakota. The first phase involved the selection of
residential households with telephones in North Dakota and the selection of one eligible aduit
aged 18 or older from each selected household to respond to the screener or “short form®. The
phase 1 ar short form weights (“WT_SHORT™) treat the first phase tetection as an equal-
probability selection of eligible adults in North Dakota, except that male and female adults of
different ages in each of four “regions” of North Dakota may have different probabiltties of
completing the screener. The second phase sample involved a stratified random selection of
phase-1 respondents for the full-length interview (“long form”): 25% of shon-form respondents
who said they were lifetime gamblers, 25% of those who said they were nast-year gamblers,
100% of those who said they were past-week gambiers, and 0% of those who said they had
never gambled were selected to receive the full-length interview. (An exception is Region 1,
where much higher percentages of lifetime and past-year gambiers were asked to complete the
long form.) The phase 2 or long form weights ("WT_LONG") adjust for both the differential
probabilities of selection for the long form based on gambling frequency, for differential
nonresponse by region, age, and gender at phases t and 2, and for differential nonresponse by

gambling frequency at phase 2.

The following sections glve details of the weights for the short and long forms, provide descriptive
statistics for both weights, and discuss the implementation of the weights in analyses of the North

Oakota gambling dataset.

2. Phase-1 weights (“WT_SHORT). Separately within each of 48 phase-1 weighting
subclasses, we calculated the phase-1 weight by (a) dividing the number of individuals who
completed the short form by the corresponding number of adults In the same subclass of the
North Dakota population, (b) taking the reciprocal (inverse) of the resulting ratio, and (c)
standardizing the reciprocals of the ratios so that their sum across all short-form respondents
equals the number of short-respondents, i.e., n = 5002, The quantity calculated in (a) estimales
the “phase-1 inclusion probabildy,” the probability of being selected for and completing the
screener. The phase-1 weight is proportional to the reciprocal of the phase-t inclusion probabiity

(Cochran, 1963),

The 48 subclasses that were used in the phase-1 weighting resulted from cross-classifying three
variables: age (coded 18-24, 25-29, 30-34, 35-54, 55.84, and 85 and older), gender (males and
females), and reglon (coded 1, 2, 3, and 4). A small number of missing screener responses on
age- about 5%- were imputed at the mode.' A printout accompanying this memorandum
(“ndimpute.Ist”) shows the distribution of short-form respondents by phase-1 weighting subclass.

3. Phase-2 weights (“WT_LONG"). The long-form weights are the product of lwo factors: (a) the
phase-1 weight ("WT_SHORT") and (b) the “phase-2 factor,” a factor which adjusts for the
unequal probabilities of selecting short form respondents for the long form and for the unequal
long-form completion rates of individuais of different reglons, ages, genders, and gambling
frequencles. Separately within each of 44 phase-2 weighting subclasses, the phase.2 factor was
computed by (a) dividing the number of long-form respondents by the number of short-form
respondents In the same wekjhting subclass and (b) taking the reclprocal inverse. The phase.2
weights ("WT_LONG"-—computed by multiplying the phase-1 weight by the phase.2 factor—
were standardized so that thay sum, when added up over all long-form respondents, to the
number of long-form raspondents, n = 1609, (Note that the long-form weights are not defined-
{ake on missing data values.- for Individuals who did nnt complete the long form.) The quantity
calculated In (a) estimates the "phase-2 inclusion probabllity,” the conditional probability of baing
sslacted for and completing the long form, glven completion of the short form, The long-form
welight Is proportional to the reclprocal of the product of the phase-1 and phase-2 inclusion

probabilities (Cochran, 1943),
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The subclasses used in the phase-2 weighting inftially resulted from cross-clas?

variables. age (coded 18-34, 35-54, 55 and older), gender (males and female

2,3, and 4), and gambling frequency (never, lifetime, past-ysar, and past-week). .

necessary to collapse across some welghting subclasses to produce final weighting Suw.

with sufficikznt numbers of cases—a minimum of 35 cases per subclass—i0 estimata the pi..
factor: (a) we collapsed across age for all gambiing subclasses, except past-year gamblers, in-
reglon 1; (b) we collapsed regions 2, 3, and 4 for nongamblers and |fetime gamblers: (¢) we
collapsed both age and region for past-week gambliers in regions 2, 3, and 4. A printout
accompanying this memorandum (“ndimpute.Ist*) shows the distribution of short-form

respondents by phase-2 weighting subclass,

4. Descriptive statistics. A printout accompanying this memorandum (“ndweight.Ist™) presents
descriptive statistics for the two weights: WT_SHORT and WT_LONG. Each vseight is only
mildly positively skew (skewness = 1,29 for WT_SHORT and skewness = 0.70 for WT_LONG)
and the coefficlent of variation (standard deviation divided by mean) of each weight is moderate
in magnitude. These statistics suggest that the use of each weight in analysis should occasion
only a modest reduction in statistical precision relative to a self-weighting sample of the same

size.

5. Implementation of the weights in analysis. WT_SHORT should be used in analyses of the
short. form data. WT_LONG should be used in analyses of the long-form data. Each weight is
scaled to sum to the total number of respondents, so these weights should yleld fairly accurate
standard errors of analytical statistics and confidence intervals for estimated parameters, when
applied using the WEIGHT subcommands of programs like SPSS or SAS, except that these
programs make no adjustment for the clusteriry of phone numbers with banks (assuming that a
clustered samply of phone numbers was selected in phase 1). Most analytical purposes will be
well served by using these weights, Exceptions would be inferences about the tatal number of
North Dakota adulls with specified atiribules or about the total number of North Dakota gamblers

. with specified atiributes. For the latter kinds of uses, WT_SHORT should be rescaled to sum to
the number of North Dakota adults, and WT_LONG should be rescaled to sumn to the number of
gambilers in North Dakota (or best available estimate thereof).
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